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Hon. Liza Harvey 

Deputy Premier

Minister for Training and Workforce Development; Police; Road Safety; Women’s Interests

11th Floor, Dumas House

2 Havelock Street

WEST PERTH WA 6005

Dear Minister,

In accordance with Section 54 of the Vocational education and training Act 1996 and Section 63 
of the Financial Management Act 2006, we have pleasure in submitting for your information and 
presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of C.Y. O’Connor Institute for the year ending 31st 
December 2015.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Vocational education and training Act 1996.

Statement of Compliance

Bryant Stokes AM

Chair, Governing Council 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
11 March, 2016

John Scott

Managing Director 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
11 March, 2016
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Hon. Terry Redman MLA, Dr Sharon Ross – Principal Lecturer, Winner in the Curtin University 
Teaching Excellence Award Category and Overall State Winner 2015 Regional and Community 
Awards and Hon. Mia Davies MLA.

Trevor and Frank Davis preparing to address the Narrogin Senior High School, Aboriginal School 
Based Trainees on Aboriginal culture, their life growing up and the importance of education and 
regular attendance. 
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Chairperson’s ReportOverview

The successful implementation of a demand-
driven, student entitlement system has remained 
the overriding priority within the Institute for 
2015.  I am pleased to report that the Institute 
enrolled just over 630,000 student curriculum 
hours (SCH) against a Profile target of 595,704, 
however, the continuous nature of enrolments 
meant that not all students were able to be 
resulted by 31 December and the Institute fell 
some 50,000 SCH short of the Profile target.  
50 per cent of enrolments attracted a student 
entitlement (in training aligned with recognized 
State skill shortage areas).  This is an excellent 
result for a regional college and reflective of a 
committed, whole-of-team effort by the Institute 
community.

The Institute continued to score highly in the 
independent assessment of the level of student 
satisfaction – again, recording a score above 
the State average.  I attribute this to our expert 
staff who are passionate about teaching and 
learning; and creating a highly supportive 
student experience.  

The Institute was a finalist in the 2015 WA 
Training Excellence Awards in the category 
of Major training provider of the Year.  My 
congratulations to Children’s Services lecturer 
Danni Grundy who was judged as the WA 
trainer of the Year; and to Customer Services 
Officer Mrs Maureen Guiloy, who was judged as 
the WA Culturally and linguistically Diverse 
Student of the Year at the Training Excellence 
Awards.  Additionally, my congratulations to 
Dr Sharon Ross, who was judged as the 2015 
State overall Winner, and winner of the Curtin 
university teaching excellence Award, 
at the 2015 WA Regional Achievement and 
Community Awards.  

Vocational education and training has a 
key contribution to the economic and social 
development of the central Wheatbelt region 
and I believe that the Institute has a strong 
leadership role in this regard.  It is satisfying to 
reflect on the broad range of achievements of 
the Institute during 2015.  

I note the key directions contained within the 
Institute Strategic Plan are consistent with the 
mission and vision of the Institute; and that 
progress achieved against the key priorities 
for the Institute, as articulated within the 2015 
Business Plan, are regularly reported to Council.

professor Bryant Stokes AM | Chair, 
Governing Council
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Chairperson’s Report

The Governing Council was very pleased to 
welcome Mr Ross Ainsworth (York) and Mr 
Aaron Cook (Narrogin) as new members of 
Council following their appointment on 1 July.   
I would like to convey the thanks of Governing 
Council to Mr Steven Pollard (Northam), 
Dr Christine Storer (Meckering) and long-
serving member Mrs Jan Court (Lancelin), 
whose appointments ended in June, for their 
contribution to Council.

In summary, the Council is well-justified 
to remain pleased with the direction and 
development of the Institute during 2015, 
under the capable leadership of Managing 
Director, John Scott and his Executive team.  
The investments made in a number of areas 
will position the Institute to continue to operate 
successfully within a demand-driven, student 
entitlement system in 2016.

I thank my fellow members of Council for their 
contribution to the effective governance of the 
Institute during the year and, in particular, to Mrs 
Eileen O’Connell whose appointment as Chair 
of Governing Council ended in June.

Bryant Stokes AM

Chair, Governing Council 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute

During the course of 2015, the Governing 
Council travelled to Lake Grace and Toodyay 
(as well as Northam), as part of a deliberate 
strategy to engage with sub-regional 
communities.  This was a successful initiative as 
it provided the opportunity for Council members 
to receive direct feedback on how the Institute 
was meeting the needs of local communities.  

The Governing Council firmly believes in the 
power of education and training to make a 
profound difference to the lives of individuals 
and to the broader society.  For these reasons, 
the Council was very pleased to witness 
the commencement in March of the second 
cohort of students enrolling in the Bachelor 
of Agricultural Business Management degree 
program, delivered in collaboration with Charles 
Sturt University at the Muresk Institute.  

Without compromising its very strong focus on 
vocational training, the Institute has continued 
to explore opportunities for collaboration with 
higher education providers from across Australia 
to provide additional tertiary pathways other 
than for Agriculture.  By the middle of the year, 
a Memorandum of Understanding had been 
signed with Murdoch University for collaboration 
in developing tertiary pathways in Business 
and in Early Childhood Education; and a formal 
articulation arrangement had been negotiated 
with Charles Darwin University for graduates of 
the Diploma of Enrolled Nursing to gain entry 
with credit to the Bachelor of Nursing degree. 
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Managing Director’s ReportOverview

The migrant-friendly tAFe initiative, now in 
its second year of implementation, accounted 
for nearly six per cent of enrolments, and is 
guided by a Migrant Support Group.  The 
Institute attended the newcomers Australia 
expo in April and reaped the rewards of being 
the only State Training Provider present.  There 
is assessed to be much untapped potential 
associated with this initiative and a Migrant 
Friendly Strategy was being finalised late in 
the period.

The Institute was successful in achieving, or 
making good progress towards, all key priorities 
listed in the 2015 Business Plan.  The provision 
of vocational education and training programs 
to sustain a skilled regional workforce was 
the overriding priority for the Institute, and 
the Profile outcome attests that the focus of 
operations within the Institute were primarily 
aligned with this priority. 

Three important capacity-building initiatives 
with respect to training delivery occurred in the 
Health Services study area during 2015.  The 
first was the commencement of a part-time 
Diploma of Enrolled Nursing program at the 
Northam campus, in part to provide a larger pool 
of graduates in response to the opening of the 
St John of God Midland Hospitals, and in part to 
provide an alternative delivery mode for those 
students who are unable to take on a full-time 
load in the Diploma course; the second was the 
commencement of a full-time Certificate III in 
Aged Care at the Northam campus, to increase 
the supply of trained workers in this important 
and expanding employment sector; and the 
third, in collaboration with the Disability Services 
Commission, was the commencement of a 
project to develop a blended approach to the 
delivery of the Certificate III in Disability in order 
to provide increased access to formal training in 
Disability for carers and others.   

It continues to be a privilege to lead a team 
of such highly dedicated professionals who, 
once again, have contributed significantly to 
the Institute being independently assessed as 
having student satisfaction levels above the 
State average.  This reassures me that the 
environmental factors within the Institute remain 
close to optimal in terms of providing for a very 
positive teaching and learning experience for 
our students.  This creates for us a sustainable 
competitive advantage, which is so important in 
a demand-driven training market.

The introduction of the Future Skills WA 
policy and new priorities for publicly subsidised 
training has resulted in reduced training hours 
for the Institute.   Other factors influencing 
demand for training services during the year 
included subdued confidence in the economy 
and softening of the labour market in various 
industries and the catchment area serviced by 
the Institute. 

John Scott | Managing Director
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Disability Awareness Week event in November 
highlighting alternative forms of communication, 
were enjoyed by all.

One of the strategic drivers for the Institute 
is to expand pathways to tertiary education 
and employment by providing learning and 
educational outcomes as a tertiary institution.  
A major component of this activity is to 
develop articulation pathways from vocational 
training to higher education programs by 
establishing partnerships with universities.  
Excellent progress was made in 2015 with 
the commencement of a second cohort of 
students in the Bachelor of Agricultural Business 
Management, delivered in collaboration 
with Charles Sturt University, at the Muresk 
Institute.  Further work in relation to articulation 
agreements was progressed with Charles 
Darwin University (Enrolled Nursing); and 
Murdoch University (Business; and Early 
Childhood Education).

Absolutely critical to successful outcomes 
in vocational training is the strength of the 
relationship with industry and the community.  
This was enhanced during 2015 by the 
consolidation of the Local Government Industry 
Advisory Committee and the Community-
based Consultative Committee to support Art 
delivery across the Wheatbelt, both of which 
were initially established in 2014.  Together with 
the Health Services and Agribusiness Industry 
Advisory Committees, these committees, 
comprised of industry and community leaders, 
will assist the Institute to ensure that its delivery 
in these important study areas is appropriately 
targeted.  Preliminary work commenced during 
the year on the establishment of a Small 
Business Industry Advisory Committee.

Managing Director’s Report

As part of the strategic direction to prepare the 
Institute to operate within the digital economy, 
a draft of the Digital teaching and learning 
Strategy 2016-2018 was released late in the 
year.  The Strategy addresses a key driver in 
the Institute Strategic Plan 2016-2018, and 
will play an important role in developing an 
accessible learning environment underpinned by 
the application of innovative technologies and 
practices to support individual participation in 
education, training and workforce development.  

The people Development Framework, 
launched within the Institute in 2012, provides 
the framework to assist staff to understand the 
benefits of, and therefore embrace the concept 
of, a learning culture that will enable the 
Institute to further strengthen its position as a 
learning organisation.  A decision was taken 
in 2014 to implement a Staff Climate Survey, 
the results of which have enabled the Institute 
to implement a range of management initiatives 
during 2015. 

Enhancing the workforce participation rate 
for access and equity groups by adopting 
innovative and supportive training delivery 
strategies remained an important strategic 
objective for the Institute in 2015.  The Institute 
continued to implement the Access and 
equity Investment plan that was launched 
in 2013.  A highly successful Certificate II in 
Leadership was undertaken by students with 
disability at the Northam campus, culminating 
in two disability awareness events run by 
the Leadership students for all people within 
the Institute community, including students 
without disability, and key stakeholders within 
the wider community.  An ‘R U OK Day’ 
event in September (stress ball workshop) 
to promote mental wellness, and the WA 
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Managing Director’s Report

with the key priorities being implemented during 
2015.  Students with disability who attend our 
campuses were given a chance to comment on 
our services and accessibility, with the majority 
of students expressing great satisfaction with 
our facilities and staff.  Greater awareness 
of inclusion issues remains a high priority, 
with professional development and events 
highlighting disability offered throughout the 
year.

In summary, it is again very satisfying to see 
the Institute moving forward on so many fronts.  
2015 was another very busy year, with the 
lecturing staff demonstrating great flexibility and 
agility in operating within the demand-driven, 
student entitlement system.  Furthermore, we 
are able to offer a differentiated service through 
a focus on flexible learning, tertiary pathways 
and migrant students; and we understand 
that our consistently high levels of student 
satisfaction offer us a competitive advantage.  
From a business perspective, we remain in a 
strong market position.

Finally, I would like to again thank the  
Governing Council for their vision and support 
of the numerous capacity building activities 
that were undertaken during 2015.  Together, 
we are ensuring the ongoing relevance of C.Y. 
O’Connor Institute and its significant contribution 
to the social and economic development of the 
central Wheatbelt region.

John Scott

Managing Director 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute

Partnerships are very important in regional 
areas in terms of ensuring successful outcomes.  
One initiative that exemplifies this is the 
partnership with Directions, the Northam-based 
group training organization, in the continued 
promotion of apprenticeships and traineeships 
across the Wheatbelt.  This important 
work, strongly supported by the Wheatbelt 
Development Commission, flowed from the 
Wheatbelt Workforce Development plan and 
is vital in terms of retaining young people in 
many of the smaller communities that comprise 
the central Wheatbelt region.   

The new (replacement) campus for Narrogin 
continues to be a priority for infrastructure 
development from a Departmental perspective 
– albeit that it remains an unfunded initiative.  
Progress was made during the year to define 
the scope of, and tender for, a refurbishment 
package for the Fortune Street campus.

The last operational priority area in the 2015 
Business Plan concerns the issue of compliance 
with government legislation, policy and 
procedures.  I am pleased to report that there 
were no breaches in this area, and the Institute 
made further progress in the implementation of 
the oSH Management plan.

The Institute continues to achieve very solid 
outcomes in relation to Aboriginal education and 
training.  In terms of achievement of student 
curriculum hours, training involving Aboriginal 
people amounts to nine per cent of the total 
business of the Institute, when Aboriginal people 
in the Wheatbelt comprise just under five per 
cent of the total population.

A revised Disability Access and Inclusion 
plan 2015 – 2019 was endorsed by the 
Disability Services Commission late in 2014, 
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Executive SummaryOverview

The migrant-friendly tAFe initiative 
contributed 32,000 student curriculum hours, 
and is assessed as having potential for further 
expansion.  A decision was taken during the 
year to consolidate this niche area of delivery, 
and work commenced on the development of a 
Migrant Friendly Strategy.

Consistent with the emphasis within the 
training WA plan placed on supporting 
regional communities by increasing access to 
the range of publicly funded qualifications in 
regional areas, a number of courses are being 
developed for flexible (online) delivery.  This 
includes the Certificate III in Disability and the 
Certificate II in Business.

Quality is the bedrock of training operations 
within the Institute, and this was reinforced 
toward the end of the year with a decision 
taken to engage a TAC auditor to work with 
the Academic Board to assist with managing 
compliance with the Standards for Rtos 2015.

2015 was a year of solid performance for the 
Institute in what was a challenging operating 
environment.   Notwithstanding the very good 
achievement in enrolling to 106 per cent of the 
Profile target, due to the continuous nature of 
enrolments the Institute was only able to result 
to 92 per cent of target.  The focus throughout 
the year was very much on implementing the 
strategic directions that are outlined in the C.Y. 
o’Connor Institute Strategic plan 2015-2017, 
that is: to maintain the principal focus on the 
delivery of vocational education and training 
services; position the Institute to deliver tertiary 
pathways where appropriate; and to make the 
Institute more competitive in an increasingly 
contestable training market.

The introduction of the Future Skills WA 
policy and new priorities for publicly subsidised 
training has resulted in reduced training hours 
for the Institute.   Other factors influencing 
demand for training services during the year 
included subdued confidence in the economy 
and softening of the labour market in various 
industries and the catchment area serviced by 
the Institute. 

C.Y. O’Connor Institute lecturers - Dr Sak Sarangapani and Kapi Sakthivelpathi with the  
Cunderdin Migrant Group celebrating the completition of Certificate II in Leadership Development.
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Executive Summary

Some important organizational development 
work was completed in 2015.  This included the 
development of a new Workforce and Diversity 
Action plan 2015-2018; the implementation of 
the Vet practitioner Capability Framework, 
including a professional development and 
training scorecard for staff; the implementation 
of recommendations flowing from the 2014 
Staff Climate Survey; the development of a 
comprehensive, online induction program for 
new staff; and the provision of defensive driver 
training for all staff who regularly drive long 
distances.

Against this background of innovation, the 
Institute continued to perform at the forefront of 
State Training Providers (STPs) in the area of 
student satisfaction.  The Institute again scored 
an overall satisfaction rate above the State 
average - a remarkable achievement.  

Overall, the work done on many fronts in 2015 
will position the Institute well to continue to 
implement the Future Skills WA initiative in 
2016 and beyond.  

Enhancing the workforce participation rate 
for access and equity groups by adopting 
innovative and supportive training delivery 
was an important strategic objective for the 
Institute in 2015.  During the year the Institute 
continued to implement the Access and equity 
Investment plan in response to an identified 
need to ensure that learners who experience 
disadvantage achieve improved outcomes 
in vocational education and training. This 
reinforces the commitment by the Governing 
Council to an inclusive and equitable education 
and training environment that reflects fair 
opportunities for all.

Good progress was made through the year in 
relation to expanding tertiary pathways, with 
an articulation agreement being signed with 
Murdoch University in relation to Business, 
and Early Childhood Education.  The Institute 
attracted a first year cohort of 14 students 
into the Bachelor of Agricultural Business 
Management at the Muresk Institute, and 
a total of 29 first and second year students 
sat their end-of-year exams.  Due mainly 
to a comprehensive marketing campaign 
implemented in 2015, enrolments for the  
degree program in 2016 look very strong.

The project to remediate the asbestos 
contamination at the Northam campus is 
ongoing – now in the third year of the planning 
phase.   A refurbishment package for the 
Narrogin campus has been developed and was 
at the tender stage at the end of the year.  A 
new lease agreement was developed late in the 
year to provide certainty of access to the Trades 
workshop in Merredin for the next five years.
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Organisational OverviewOverview

Office of the Managing Director
The Office of the Managing Director is 
responsible for providing administrative support 
to the Managing Director, Governing Council 
and the Executive Management Team.  It 
also has responsibility for the marketing and 
promotion of the current and future activities 
of the Institute at the local, regional and state 
level; the administration of training data; and 
oversight of delivery of the agribusiness degree 
program at the Muresk Institute.  These and 
other services are delivered from the following 
business units:

• Community Relations; 

• Data Administration;

• Executive Support; and

• the (higher education) School of 
Agribusiness.

In 2015, the second cohort of students 
commenced the Bachelor of Agricultural 
Business Management degree, delivered in 
collaboration with Charles Sturt University at 
the Muresk Institute.  The degree is delivered 
by staff who are employed by C.Y. O’Connor 
Institute and have current industry and higher 
education experience.  Professor Christine 
Storer is the Head, School of Agribusiness. 

C.Y. O’Connor Institute has been providing 
vocational education and training services for 
the Wheatbelt region of Western Australia for 
nearly three decades. To enable service delivery 
across the 155,000 square kilometres of the 
region, the Institute has four major campuses 
strategically located at Northam, Narrogin, 
Merredin and Moora.

The Institute currently consists of three 
directorates that provide training services 
and support across the four campuses. The 
directorates are:

• Office of the Managing Director;

• Academic Services; and

• Business Services.

Individually and collectively these directorates 
apply themselves to the development, 
implementation and support of a range of 
programs to meet the education and training 
needs of the region. These programs are 
delivered through engaging and partnering with 
the community, industry groups, and individual 
business enterprises. The Institute offers 
multiple delivery modes to attract students from 
across the region, the state and the nation.
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Organisational Overview

The range of services provided by the 
Directorate include:

• Employment Based Training (Apprenticeships 
and Traineeships);

• Online, workplace, self-paced and face to 
face training;

• Holistic and industry driven model of 
Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL);

• Short courses and licensing units of 
competency programs;  

• Delivery of VET-in-Schools;

• Prisons delivery;

• Commercial delivery for work-based and 
industry ‘demand led’ training requirements;

• Foundation skills and work readiness 
programs; and

• Community engagement and services.

In addition, the Directorate manages the quality 
assurance of training delivery within the Institute 
and its compliance with the new Standards 
for Rtos 2015.  The services provided by the 
Directorate include:

• Quality and Planning;

• Provision of curriculum and learning 
materials, including electronic access;

• Professional Development of the Institute’s 
staff; 

• Customer Service;

• Client Management Information Systems 
(CMIS); and 

• Bookshop. 

Academic Services Directorate
The Academic Services Directorate is 
responsible for the management of all 
academic services within the Institute.  This 
includes all educational and training delivery 
programs, business development, customer 
services and training quality management.  It 
provides a leadership role in the development 
and implementation of effective processes 
for Institute academic strategic planning and 
academic policy development.  

The Directorate has the primary responsibility 
to achieve the government funded training 
targets and identify commercial training in 
response to regional, industry and state 
workforce development plans for the clients of 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute located primarily within 
the Wheatbelt.  Staff with a diverse range of 
professional expertise deliver services and 
programs from the following regional business 
units:

• Avon (centred in Northam);

• Northern (centred in Moora);

• Southern (centred in Narrogin);

• Eastern (centred in Merredin); and 

• Trade Skills Delivery and Support (centred in 
Northam).



C.Y. O’Connor Institute 2015 Annual Report | 15

Organisational Overview

Business Services Directorate
The Business Services Directorate provides 
corporate support to the Institute in the areas 
of finance, human resources, information 
technology, facilities management and research 
and planning.  In addition, the Directorate 
oversees functions relating to equity and 
access, and Aboriginal student services.

The Directorate also has a significant role in 
coordinating strategic and operational planning 
across the Institute and ensuring compliance 
with legislative and regulatory requirements.

The following business units comprise the 
Business Services Directorate:

• Human Resources;

• Finance (including Records Management, 
Canteen);

• Information Technology (including Library);

• Access and Equity; and

• Aboriginal Student Support Services.

In 2015, the Institute had an average of 110.7 
full-time equivalent staff and 3,086 full-time and 
part-time students, including 332 apprentices 
and trainees. The Institute resulted 624,524 
student curriculum hours of Profile and non-
Profile training across 121 qualifications, 
courses and units of competency on scope at 
the end of the year.
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Values
• Quality

• Honesty

• Respect

• Integrity

• Teamwork

• Sustainability

Vision
C.Y. O’Connor Institute is recognised as 
an innovative and high-performing provider 
of training and educational services that 
contributes to regional and state workforce 
development.

Mission
Our mission is to provide quality training and 
education services to enable our students in the 
Wheatbelt and beyond to achieve their potential.

Organisation Vision, Mission & ValuesOverview

Steve Paxman, Building and Furniture Making lecturer, was recognised by the Department  
of Corrective Services with the Outstanding Vocational Trainer award for his delivery within  
Western Australian prisons.
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Governing CouncilOverview

The Governing Council of C.Y. O’Connor Institute comprises a Chairperson, Deputy Chairperson 
and seven members, who are appointed by the Minister for Training and Workforce Development. 
As representatives of industry and the community, the members of the Governing Council are 
appointed for their expertise in education and training, industry or community affairs and for their 
ability to contribute to the strategic directions of the Institute. The Institute’s Managing Director is an 
ex-officio member of the Council.

Council Members in 2015 were:
Professor Bryant Stokes Chair (appointed 1 August 2015)

Ms Eileen O’Connell Deputy Chair (appointed 1 July 2015)

Ms Helen Bennett

Ms Sandra Randell

Ms Regina Hill

Mr Paul Tomlinson

Mr Greg Humphries

Mr Aaron Cook (appointed 1 July 2015)

Mr Ross Ainsworth (appointed 1 July 2015)

Mr John Scott Managing Director

Ms Janice Court (ceased tenure 30 June 2015)

Dr Christine Storer (ceased tenure 30 June 2015)

Mr Steven Pollard (ceased tenure 30 June 2015)
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Accountable Authorities
The Accountable Authority for C.Y. O’Connor 
Institute is the Governing Council. The 
Managing Director is the Chief Executive Officer 
and is supported by an Executive comprising 
two General Managers.

The key strategic committees comprise:

• Performance Monitoring, Audit and Risk Sub 
Committee of Governing Council;

• Planning, Business Development and 
Marketing Sub Committee of Governing 
Council; and

• Executive Management Team.

enabling legislation
C.Y. O’Connor Institute is a Statutory Authority 
established under section 35 of the Vocational 
education and training Act 1996.

Responsible Minister
Hon. Liza M. Harvey MLA

Deputy Premier 
Minister for Training and Workforce 
Development; Police; Road Safety; Women’s 
Interests

Operational StructureOverview
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Operational Structure

Higher Education BABM

Managing Director 
John Scott

Community Relations

Business Services 
General Manager 

Neil McAullay

Access & Equity

Finance

Human Resources

Office of the 
Managing Director

Quality

Student Services

Teaching & Learning

Trades

Academic Services 
General Manager 

Delia Pascua-McGlew

Avon

Northern

Southern

Data Administration

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
Governing Council  

Chair 
Professor Bryant Stokes

Executive  
Management Team

Aboriginal Student 
Support Services

Information Technology

Performance  
Monitoring, Audit & Risk 

Committee

Planning,  
Business Development  
& Marketing Committee

Eastern

Minister for Training and Workforce Development 
Hon. Liza Harvey MLA

Executive Support
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Government Goals

Goal 5: Social and environmental 
Responsibility
Ensuring that economic activity is managed 
in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term benefit of the State.

In a general sense, the Institute monitors and 
reviews its progress against these goals and 
their strategic priorities through the mechanisms 
of:

• The Managing Director’s Performance 
Agreement;

• Monthly Performance Reports;

• Bimonthly Reports to the Governing Council;

• Key Performance Indicators; and

• Monthly meetings of the Executive 
Management Team.

The main contribution C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
makes to the State Government goals is with 
respect to Goal 3: Results Based Service 
Delivery - Greater focus on achieving results 
in key service delivery areas for the benefit 
of all Western Australians and Goal 4: Strong 
Focus on the Regions - Greater focus on 
service delivery, infrastructure investment 
and economic development to improve the 
overall quality of life in remote and regional 
areas. 

The strategic objectives of the Institute are 
set out in the Workforce Development and 
tertiary pathways: Strategic plan 2015-2017 
and are reflective of these goals. 

The State Government has developed five 
government goals to guide and assist Western 
Australian public sector agencies in developing 
programs, polices and services. However, 
due to the range and diversity of government 
agencies, not all the goals apply equally to 
all the agencies. Within the context of the five 
government goals, C.Y. O’Connor Institute has 
developed and implemented a strategic plan 
and business plan with the aim of providing 
quality services to its customers.

The State Government goals are:

Goal 1: State Building — Major 
projects
Building strategic infrastructure that will create 
jobs and underpin Western Australia’s long-term 
economic development.

Goal 2: Financial and economic 
Responsibility
Responsibly managing the State’s finances 
through the efficient and effective delivery of 
services, encouraging economic activity and 
reducing regulatory burdens on the private 
sector.

Goal 3: Results Based Service 
Delivery
Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

Goal 4: Stronger Focus on the 
Regions
Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic development to 
improve the overall quality of life in remote and 
regional areas.

Performance Management 
Framework
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Goal 2:
Financial and economic 
Responsibility
Responsibly managing the State’s finances 
through the efficient and effective delivery of 
services, encouraging economic activity and 
reducing regulatory burdens on the private 
sector.

The Institute has developed and implemented  
a financial framework to ensure that its finances 
are managed prudently and are sustainable.   
In addition, policies and practices are reviewed 
regularly to ensure the efficient and effective 
delivery of services.

Government Goals

Achievements against the State 
Government goals are outlined below.
Goal 1: 
State Building — Major projects
Building strategic infrastructure that will create 
jobs and underpin Western Australia’s long-term 
economic development.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute had no capital 
works either under construction or finished 
construction in 2015.

narrogin Campus

The Department of Training and Workforce 
Development’s State Asset Management plan 
(StAMp 2012 – 2022) has recommended the 
development of the existing business case for a 
new replacement training facility for the Narrogin 
community and to identify cost effective 
development options.

As an interim measure, the Department of 
Training and Workforce Development has 
tendered a package of work to refurbish the 
Fortune Street campus.  This work is expected 
to commence in February, 2016.
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• The delivery of the Certificate II in 
Leadership as a pathway program in 2015 
has been particularly successful for students 
from a Culturally and Linguistically Diverse 
(CALD) background; and for disengaged 
people.  For the CALD group, the leadership 
program provides valuable experience in 
engaging with vocational education and 
training, and preparing individuals for further 
training and/or employment.  Programs for 
disengaged students included exposure to a 
range of industry areas under a ‘Try-a-Trade’ 
banner to assist with identifying vocational 
and training pathways that appeal to their 
interests.

• The Institute has introduced several 
innovative delivery strategies to cater for 
people who may have difficulty in attending 
full time studies and regular classes on 
weekdays.  These initiatives include delivery 
outside of normal working hours; foundation 
courses; and the introduction of a part-time 
Diploma of Nursing and Certificate III in Aged 
Care.

Goal 3: 
Results Based Service Delivery
Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

The strategic priorities for C.Y. O’Connor 
Institute in 2015 were focused on the delivery 
of skills-based training to develop the workforce 
in the central Wheatbelt region.  By providing 
education and training services that contribute 
to building capacity in the workforce, the 
Institute was delivering results-based services 
that contribute directly and indirectly to 
sustaining regional communities for the benefit 
of all Western Australians.

During 2015, the following work was undertaken 
to contribute to Government Goal 3:

• A total of 545,222 SCH was achieved against 
a training target of 595,704 SCH (92 per cent 
of target), with achievement in Entitlement 
Profile training some 12 percentage points 
above target – a good result for the 
Wheatbelt economy and the State in general. 

• In 2015, the Institute continued 
implementation of the migrant-friendly 
tAFe initiative to meet the growing demand 
of migrants that require access to education 
and training services; and pathways to 
employment.  A total of 32,000 SCH was 
delivered across a range of qualifications 
within the Institute, a 44 per cent increase 
over the level of training delivered associated 
with this initiative in 2014.
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Avon

The Avon sub region is serviced by the Northam 
campus, which is the primary training facility 
supporting the Shires of Northam, Toodyay, 
York, Goomalling and Dowerin. This campus 
also serves as the administrative centre for the 
Institute.  Some of the achievements within the 
Avon region for 2015 include:

• C.Y. O’Connor Institute has formed a 
partnership with the Disability Services 
Commission. Cooperation between parties  
is principally toward the advancement of 
education and training for people who work, 
or aspire to work, in the disability sector.  The 
overall aim of this joint agency collaboration 
is to increase the availability of suitably 
skilled and trained people to provide the 
workforce capacity to meet the demand  
of an expanding disability services sector.  
The Institute is in the process of developing 
Certificate III in Disability units that are 
accessible on-line, and are interactive and 
engaging.

• Quality training and exceptional student 
support by the Children’s Services lecturing 
team has culminated in a team member, Ms 
Danni Grundy, winning the 2015 WA trainer 
of the Year award. Danni and the Institute’s 
Children’s Services team have a strong focus 
on on-line resource development and 
streamlining student access to training 
resources, minimising the isolation 
experienced by many students.

Goal 4: 
Stronger Focus on the Regions
Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic development to 
improve the overall quality of life in remote and 
regional areas.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is the major public 
provider of vocational education and training 
in the Wheatbelt, delivering services across 
an area of approximately 155,000 square 
kilometres. These services are provided from 
the four main campuses located in Northam, 
Narrogin, Moora and Merredin, which support 
the four sub regions of Avon, Southern, 
Northern and Eastern respectively. 

Examples of achievements within each of 
the sub regions, and the Trades portfolio, are 
highlighted below.
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• The Institute was successful in gaining 
Department of Training Workforce 
Development support to establish a purpose-
built aged care training facility at the Northam 
campus that will simulate an aged care 
environment. This will be a valuable asset  
to skill an aged care workforce and will 
augment the quality training already provided 
by the Aged Care lecturing team.  Planning 
for the arrival of a demountable training 
facility commenced late in the year.

• In line with the Institute’s commitment to 
increased access to education and training  
in the region, on-line delivery in MYOB 
commenced this year and has been popular 
with small businesses and part-time 
students.

• The success of the Diploma of Enrolled 
Nursing course delivered at the Northam and 
Narrogin campuses, and the demand from 
the community for a part-time option, has 
prompted the Institute to commence a part-
time course at the Northam campus. The 
course has attracted a capacity number of 
students and has been well received 
because it allows students to balance work 
and training commitments. 

• The Local Government lecturing team 
continues to provide quality ranger and local 
government training to the sector, both state 
wide and nationally. 

• The commitment to deliver quality training is 
demonstrated by a lecturer undertaking two 
trips to Cocos Island where two trainees 
successfully completed their qualification at 
the end of the year. The Institute’s lecturing 
team has strong links with organisations such 
as the WA Local Government Association, 
WA Rangers Association, and the National 
Technical Reference Group associated with 
Government Skills Australia as part of 
training package development within the 
Local Government portfolio. The WA Ranger 
team of the Year Award continues to be 
exclusively sponsored by C.Y. O’Connor 
Institute. 

 In addition, the Local Government lecturing 
team has successfully added the micro-
chipping skill set to the Institute’s scope in 
2015.  This is the minimum requirement for 
individuals to be licenced as a micro-chip 
officer, and is a very relevant and needed 
qualification within the Wheatbelt region.
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eastern

The Merredin campus provides training 
opportunities for people in the eastern 
Wheatbelt sub region. This region encompasses 
the shires of Quairading, Narembeen, Southern 
Cross, Wyalkatchem, Merredin, Kellerberrin, 
Mukinbudin, Bruce Rock, Nungarin, Bencubbin, 
Koorda and Westonia.  Courses are delivered 
in collaboration with local Community Resource 
Centres to assist with marketing and venue 
management.

Some achievements within the Eastern sub 
region for 2015 include:

• A partnership with Pork Industry Training WA 
(PITWA) assisted the Pork industry with 
training and upskilling of staff to complete a 
Certificate III in Pork Production.  This project 
was funded by the National Workforce 
Development Fund; and training and 
assessment was customised to meet the 
specific needs of this industry, with 17 
students graduating.

• The Institute successfully partnered with Max 
Employment to engage students in courses 
such as Certificate in General Education for 
Adult (CGEA), Information Technology and 
Business Studies.

• There was a demand for short course 
delivery to meet community needs in the 
areas of:

• Apply First Aid 

• Forklift training 

• Elevated work platform

• Quad bike (ATV)

• Chainsaw

• Harvester and Operate specialised 
machinery and equipment

northern

The Northern sub region is serviced by 
the Moora campus, supporting seven local 
government areas in the northern Wheatbelt.  
Regional training is delivered through 
established centres at Dalwallinu, Wongan 
Hills, Dandaragan, Jurien Bay, Gingin, Bindoon, 
Lancelin, and via Community Resource Centres 
in other areas as required.  Some of the 
achievements include:

• The Certificate IV in Preparation for Nursing 
Education, developed as an on-line course, 
achieved outstanding success during 2015.  
The large number of enrolments were 
supported by the efficiencies of a well-
designed on-line course structure.

• The Certificate in General Education for 
Adults (CGEA) experienced strong demand 
in the lower certificate levels and there is 
increasing interest from the CALD client 
group, especially for weekend classes. The 
CGEA team also worked with the aged care 
industry to look at developing a program 
based around CGEA to support workforce 
development in that sector.

• Leadership programs continued with delivery 
of an Aboriginal school-based traineeship 
program at Central Midlands Senior High 
School; weekend delivery to a CALD group in 
Cunderdin; and a ‘Try-a-Trade’ program for 
disengaged students in Northam. 

• The Course in Applied Vocational Study 
Skills (CAVSS) program continued to support 
delivery of VET qualifications across the 
Institute.

• Wool classing delivery has been expanded to 
provide training for classing of Alpaca wool, 
supporting this industry area in Western 
Australia.
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• Strong partnerships with schools were 
evident in the eastern region.  VET-in-
Schools delivery at the Merredin College saw 
the Rutherford Trade Training Centre being 
utilised to deliver Building and Construction 
and Engineering qualifications.  Students 
were also engaged in non-trades training 
such as the Certificate II in Business; 
Certificate IV in Preparation for Nursing; 
Certificate III in Visual Arts; and Certificate III 
in Education Support.

 The VET-in-Schools delivery at WA College 
of Agriculture - Cunderdin focused on Wool 
Clip Preparation; Advanced Wool Handling; 
Chemical Handling; Apply First Aid; Skid 
Steer; Front End Loader Operations; 
Construction White Card; and Chainsaw.

• The ‘One Life Suicide Prevention’ project was 
delivered to the Aboriginal community at 
Kellerberrin.  

• Working at Heights

• Operate Tractors and Front end loader 
operations

• Skid Steer

 Some of these short courses were 
delivered to staff employed by the 
Department of Agriculture and Food WA.

• AusChem (Chemical handling) training 
delivery has consistently met demand in 
various locations within the Wheatbelt 
including Muresk, Brookton, Quindanning 
and Northam.

• The Collgar Wind Farm Eastern Wheatbelt 
Art Scholarship exhibition was held in 
conjunction with the Wheatbelt Art Prize.  
Two students received a scholarship funded 
by the Collgar Wind Farm.

 Art courses have consistently supported 
community capacity building and 
engagement.  Several art exhibitions were 
held in the region showcasing the students’ 
achievements and successes in the course.

• Certificate II in Automotive Air Conditioning 
Technology and Certificate III in Heavy 
Commercial Vehicle Mechanical Technology 
continued to receive strong support from 
local industry and the Farm Machinery and 
Industries Association. The facilities (Trades 
Annex, Merredin) for this delivery have been 
retained for another five-year lease term.
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 Many of the Institute’s students also 
participated in a major community Art 
project, coordinated by Arts Narrogin, and 
run by well-known artist Rebecca Cool. This 
project saw Rebecca, our students, and a 
host of other volunteers paint a huge 39 
metre mural at the Narrogin Town Hall.

• Strong education partnerships were 
maintained with VET-in-Schools delivery to 
students from Narrogin Senior High School 
and the WA College of Agriculture - Narrogin.  
Successful delivery occurred in Nursing; 
Children’s Services; Education Support; 
Health Services Support; Business; Finance; 
Automotive; Community Services; and Wool 
Classing. 

• Certificate II in Conservation and Land 
Management was completed this year with 
three Aboriginal students achieving a full 
qualification and another three a partial 
qualification.  Their achievements were 
celebrated at a Graduation Ceremony held 
during the NAIDOC day celebration.  This 
project was funded by the South West 
Catchment Council.

• 2015 saw the continuation of the Education 
Training Participation Program, which is 
aimed at youth that have disengaged from 
mainstream education.  Eleven students 
enrolled in the Certificate I in Industrial Skills.  
The program was very successful with five of 
the students going on to enrol in Certificate II 
in Automotive; one student enrolling in a 
Business course; and one commenced a job 
whilst completing their study.  Based on the 
success of this program, funding has been 
secured to run the program again in 2016.

Southern

The Southern sub region is serviced by the 
Narrogin campus, supporting the twelve shires 
of Brookton, Cuballing, Dumbleyung, Kondinin, 
Kulin, Lake Grace, Narrogin, Pingelly, Wagin, 
Wandering, West Arthur and Williams.  Courses 
are delivered throughout the southern region 
utilising the local Community Resource Centres. 
Achievements within the Southern region for 
2015 include:

• The completion of the previous year’s 
Aboriginal school-based traineeship program 
at Narrogin Senior High School.  This 
program involved delivery of the Certificates I 
and II in Leadership at the School, with 
students involved in live works projects.  
Based on the success of this program in 
2015, the program will run again in 2016 and 
will include work shadowing.

• Narrogin’s Art program culminated in the 
opening of an Art exhibition, ‘Emerge 15’, 
which showcased students’ work from 
throughout the year.  For the first time C.Y. 
O’Connor Institute Visual Art students were 
asked to exhibit their work at the Perth Royal 
Show.  This initiative was a huge success. 
The ‘Bush Babies Portraits of Elders’ project 
continued to offer wonderful opportunities for 
ten of the Institute’s students, and some of 
the student artwork from this project was 
selected by Art on the Move to tour WA for 
the next two years.  The students were 
invited to speak at many of these exhibitions.
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• Apprenticeship numbers in Carpentry and 
Joinery remained static during 2015 as the 
local market remained stagnant.   However, 
this was offset by traineeship numbers in the 
prison sector increasing dramatically.  
Numbers of Automotive apprenticeships in 
the Wheatbelt remained static, offset by 
growth in specialised apprenticeship 
programs in the Perth metropolitan area. 

• The partnership with SMYL Group Training 
and CCI saw a further increase in school-
based traineeships in the metropolitan area.  
Further growth in this business is anticipated.

• Recognition of Prior Learning continued to  
be in demand across all the Trades delivery 
areas.  This strong interest reflects the solid 
trade skills base within the Wheatbelt, and 
the comparatively low level of formal 
qualifications held.  There is an increasing 
appetite for skills recognition in the region 
and this area of business is expected to 
grow.

• Short Courses and unit ‘bundles’ (skill sets) 
continued to be in high demand. However, 
some unmet demand resulted due to staff 
and resource shortages in this area.  
Courses delivered include Forklift; Elevated 
Work Platform; Dogging; Skipper’s Ticket; 
Excavator; Skid Steer; Dogging; Crane; 
Frontend Loader; Chemical Handling; Small 
Motors; Grader; Working at Heights; and 
White Card.

trades

The Institute recognises the economic 
importance of the Trades portfolio to the 
Wheatbelt region and the State as a whole.  
The Trades portfolio was established to provide 
a stronger focus on the delivery of employment 
based training across all sub-regions within the 
Wheatbelt.  Some highlights from 2015 include 
the following:

• Trades delivery in many study areas included 
live works with the students being exposed to 
realistic work situations including evaluating; 
costing and quoting; customer contact; OH & 
S relevant to the job at hand; and completing 
the works to industry standard.  Specific 
examples of live works are: Automotive 
- where repairs and services were performed 
in the Institute’s four accredited workshops; 
and Construction - which includes the 
construction, demolition, maintenance and 
minor works around the Institute campuses.

• The school-based traineeship program in 
Perth continued to grow throughout the year.  
A partnership negotiated with the Clontarf 
Academy late in the year will see an 
Automotive program commence in February, 
2016.  Delivery to Engineering students in the 
metropolitan area is expected to expand in 
2016 with access to an engineering 
workshop in Maddington. 
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Goal 5:
Social and environmental 
Responsibility
Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a 
socially and environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term benefit of the State.

Asbestos Remediation at northam campus

In late 2012 the Northam campus site was 
classified by the Department of Environment 
and Conservation as “possibly contaminated – 
investigation required”.  As a consequence of 
the classification, substantial investigation and 
analysis of the soil has been undertaken.

During 2015 Landcorp engaged Golder 
Associates to undertake further soil sampling 
and analysis within the Northam campus site.  In 
November 2015, Golder Associates forwarded a 
report ‘Environmental Investigation for Asbestos 
– C.Y. O’Connor TAFE Northam’ to Landcorp for 
their consideration and endorsement.

It is anticipated the remediation works will 
commence in 2016.

• The Construction Industry Training Fund 
continued to support training with ‘Try-a-
Trade’ short courses being delivered in 
schools; and the Certificate II Construction 
Pathways delivered in the Catholic 
Agricultural College - Bindoon and Merredin 
College.  2016 will be the last year that the 
fund will support this type of training. 

• Delivery within the prison system continues 
to enhance opportunities for students when 
they leave incarceration.  Trainee numbers 
increased during the year and are expected 
to climb even further as traineeship programs 
are ‘bedded in’ at Acacia Prison.  

• Prison delivery continued with strong student 
numbers in both qualifications and skill sets.  
The program has expanded to include Forklift 
delivery in three of the major prisons, with 
some delivery being fee for service.

• The development of a new approach to 
support the inclusion of the Course in 
Applied Vocational Study Skills (CAVSS) and 
the Underpinning Skills for Industry 
Qualifications (USIQ) in Avon classes in 
Construction, Electrotechnology, Automotive 
and Short course delivery proved effective. 

Overall, the Trades portfolio performed very well 
in 2015 in difficult operating conditions, having 
achieved 115 per cent of its Profile target.
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No changes were made to the Institute’s Outcome Based Management Framework in 2015.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute receives its annual funding allocation from the State Government through 
a resource agreement (Delivery and Performance Agreement) with the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development.  Under that agreement, the Institute reports, via the Governing Council, to 
the Department on a range of outcomes.

 

Changes to Outcome Based 
Management Framework

Performance Management 
Framework

Shared Responsibilities  
with Other Agencies

Performance Management 
Framework

C.Y. O’Connor Institute Lecturer Richard Ludemann with Mystique Ropiha, Aaron Bransby and 
Jayden Whibley, Narrogin Education and Training Participation Program.
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overall Student Satisfaction

C.Y. O’Connor Institute WA Average
88.0% 87.8%

2015 training Delivery Indicators
Achievement of Training Delivery Profile (publicly funded delivery), counted as Student Curriculum 
Hours (SCH).

Original Planned Actual % Achieved
595,704 545,522 91.91%

Non-Profile, counted as SCH and expressed as a percentage of total Institute delivery.

Non-Profile 75,413
% of Total Institute SCH 12.06%

notes: 
Non-Profile training activity incorporates Fee for Service training, Special Projects (State/DEEWR funded), 
Auspicing in Schools and tendered industry specific programs.

Cost of Student Curriculum Hours 
This indicator measures the average cost of delivery per SCH for all delivery including Profile and 
Non-Profile activity.

Cost per SCH $28.18

notes: 
Cost per SCH is calculated using the following formula: 

Cost per SCH = 
 total Cost of Services

total SCH
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Danni Grundy  
Trainer of the Year  
– sponsored by the Hon. Brian Ellis MLC

Susan Anderson  
Employee of the Year  
– sponsored by C.Y. O’Connor Institute 

Construction training Fund Awards 
for excellence in training
lucas Beck 
Year 11 Student of the Year

Jason Withnell  
Year 12 Student of the Year

Scholarships awarded in 2015
elyse Reid – Narrogin winner 
Rebecca Weird – Northam winner 
Sue Abe Study Scholarship  
for a Nursing Student

Zoe Boyes  
The ‘Rising Star’ Study Scholarship  
for a Narrogin Student

Arturo Barretto 
Roji Barretto 
Marco De Sa 
Sam Shreeve  
Collgar Wind Farm Electrotechnology 
Scholarships

2014 Student Graduation Awards  
(held on 1 May 2015)
emilee Rippon  
Regional Business Student of the Year  
– sponsored by Directions WA

Carole Stephen  
Regional Services and Lifestyle  
Student of the Year  
– sponsored by Valley Ford/Northam Hyundai

Reece Morton  
Regional Primary Industries Student of the Year 
– sponsored by Department of Agriculture and 
Food WA

Merika Hastie 
Zoe Smith 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander  
Student of the Year  
– sponsored by the Shire of Northam

Maureen Guiloy  
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse  
Student of the Year  
– sponsored by Linley Valley Pork

Sloan King  
Apprentice of the Year  
– sponsored by Northam Toyota

Meg Cole 
Trainee of the Year  
– sponsored by the Shire of Northam

Christopher Smith  
James Dawson Memorial Award  
– sponsored by C.Y. O’Connor Institute

emilee Rippon 
Student of the Year  
– sponsored by the Wheatbelt Nationals
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loretta Adams  
RSM Bird Cameron Scholarship

emily Miller  
Ruralco Scholarship

nicholas Hardie  
The Sir David Brand Scholarship  
(WA State Liberal Party)

louise Fraser  
The Sir David Brand Scholarship  
(Federal Liberal Party)

Boston Whooley  
Summit Fertilizers Scholarship

loretta Adams  
Westpac Scholarship for Women in Agriculture 

2015 Bachelor of Agricultural 
Business Management Academic 
prizes and Study Scholarship 
Recipients (Award night held on  
7 May 2015)
Boston Whooley  
Lee Halford Award for Dux in First Year 
Bankwest

Boston Whooley  
Linley Valley Pork Prize for  
AGS100 Livestock Production Systems

Amy Corsini  
MOCA Leadership Award

Mitchell Hutton  
CBH Group Grains Industry Scholarship 

Matthew Richards  
Collgar Wind Farm Agribusiness Scholarship

Katie Armstrong-Sebbes  
Commonwealth Bank Regional and 
Agribusiness Banking Scholarship

Jade Stevenson  
The Country Women’s Association Scholarship

Hamish lamond  
Craig Mostyn Group Scholarship

Amy Corsini 
ethan Caldwell 
Muresk Residential Assistant Scholarship  
- C.Y O’Connor Institute 

Matthew Richards  
Rabobank Client Council Scholarship 
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2015 WA training Awards
C.Y. o’Connor Institute 
Finalist in the WA large training provider 
Award Category

Danni Grundy – Lecturer 
Winner in the WA trainer of the Year  
Award Category

Maureen Guiloy – Student 
Winner in the WA Culturally and linguistically 
Diverse Student of the Year Award Category

Merika Hastie – Student 
Finalist in the WA Aboriginal & torres Strait 
Islander Student of the Year Award Category

2015 Regional Achievement and 
Community Awards
Dr Sharon Ross – Principal Lecturer 
Winner in the Curtin university teaching 
excellence Award Category; and 
Overall State Winner 2015 Regional and 
Community Awards

2015 Staff Awards for exceptional 
performance
Susan Boyes 
Portfolio Assistant - Trades

Selwyn Hope 
Lecturer – Computing 

penny Jaworski 
Lecturer – Children’s Services

Annette Wilcox 
Canteen Manager

Children’s Services team  
Lecturers - Angela Bell, Danni Grundy,  
Penny Jaworski, Simone Lansdell

Hon. Liza Harvey MLA, Minister for Training and Workforce Development, 
Maureen Guiloy and Danni Grundy | Winners of the 2015 Training Excellence 
Awards; WA Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Student of the Year and WA 
Trainer of the Year Award
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• The Local Government lecturing team 
continued to provide quality ranger and local 
government training to the sector, both state 
wide and nationally.

• The partnership with Pork Industry Training 
WA continued to grow with the training and 
upskilling of staff.  The project was funded by 
the National Workforce Development Fund.

• Short courses and unit ‘bundles’ (skill sets) 
continued to be in high demand across the 
region and particularly for those wishing to 
work in the mining industry.  Courses 
delivered included Forklift; Elevated Work 
Platform; Dogging; Front End Loader; and 
Chemical Handling.

In line with state priorities to deliver training 
aligned to the priority industry qualifications list, 
the Institute achieved results to a level of 112 
per cent against the planning figure (planned: 
154,390 SCH; achieved: 174,109 SCH) in 
Priority Institutional delivery.

Achievements against the Institute 
Strategic plan 2015-2017
The following examples highlight the 
achievements of the Institute in accordance with 
its strategic priorities.

Strategic objective 1  
Workforce Development
Provide training and education services that 
contribute to sustaining regional communities 
and State workforce development. 

During 2015, C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
collaborated with a number of industries in the 
Wheatbelt region to enhance the level of access 
to and participation in training by integrating 
training into the workplace.  Specific examples 
of training programs that support regional 
communities and State workforce development 
include the following:

• The Institute formed a partnership with the 
Disability Services Commission.  The aim of 
this joint agency collaboration was to 
increase the availability of suitably skilled and 
trained people to provide the workforce 
capacity to meet the demand of an 
expanding disability services sector.  The 
Institute developed units from the Certificate 
III in Disability that are accessible online, 
interactive and engaging.

• The success of the Diploma of Enrolled 
Nursing course delivered at the Northam and 
Narrogin campuses and the demand from 
community for a part-time course option, 
prompted the Institute to commence a part-
time course at the Northam campus.  This 
initiative was well received. 
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Strategic objective 3  
tertiary pathways
Increase access to tertiary education and 
employment by providing flexible training and 
education pathways.

One of the strategic drivers for the Institute 
is to expand pathways to tertiary education 
and employment.  A major component of this 
activity is to develop articulation pathways from 
vocational training to higher education programs 
by establishing partnerships with universities.  

Significant progress was made in 2015 in this 
priority area with the second intake into the 
three-year Bachelor of Agricultural Business 
Management, delivered in collaboration with 
Charles Sturt University at the Muresk Institute.  
Agribusiness training and career pathway flyers 
and promotional activities were developed 
to highlight the articulation pathways from 
vocational training to this higher education 
program.

Without compromising its very strong focus 
on vocational training, the Institute continued 
to explore opportunities for collaboration with 
higher education providers from across Australia 
to provide additional tertiary pathways other 
than for Agriculture.  By the middle of the year, 
a Memorandum of Understanding had been 
signed with Murdoch University for collaboration 
in developing a number of tertiary pathways; 
and a formal articulation arrangement had been 
negotiated with Charles Darwin University for 
graduates of the Diploma of Enrolled Nursing to 
gain entry with credit to the Bachelor of Nursing 
degree.

Strategic objective 2   
open learning and Flexible Delivery
Increase access to training and education 
services by providing open learning and flexible 
delivery models for clients in the Wheatbelt and 
beyond.

In 2015, the Institute completed the 
implementation of the open learning 
Development and Investment plan 2013-
2015.  Some of the successful programs 
achieved were:

• Greater integration of learners’ current uses 
of technology into learning and assessment.

• Increased number of qualifications delivered 
through a blended approach that included 
e-learning components.  Examples are:  
Certificate IV in Preparation for Nursing 
Education; Certificate III and Diploma in 
Children Services; Certificate II in 
Leadership; Certificate III in Engineering 
(Metal Fabrication); and Certificates in 
General Education for Adults.

• Establishment of e-advisors across industry 
areas and sub-regional campuses.  Industry 
areas included:  Business, Retail and 
Foundation courses.

Lecturers used blended delivery, utilising a 
combination of Blackboard Collaborate, Skype 
and Facebook or other social networking 
platforms.  The Institute invested in mobile 
devices such as tablets for use by lecturers and 
students.  
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• The Access & Equity Officer along with the 
Aboriginal Coordinator established a 
partnership with the new Wheatbelt 
Volunteering Hub, to assist students who 
traditionally had great difficulty in accessing 
work placements to gain meaningful work 
experience.  This opened up the opportunity 
to deliver courses to equity students that 
weren’t available to them in the past.

The flexibility and creativity of the lecturers to 
contextualise the learning programs has been 
the key factor for the successful engagement of 
the students in the access and equity groups.  
80 per cent of the graduates from the foundation 
courses continued to enrol in VET courses at 
the Institute.

Access and equity Investment plan

The Access and equity Investment plan 
2013-2015 was successfully completed in 2015.  
Some of the highlights of the achievements 
were:

• Increased engagement of access and equity 
groups (seniors; disengaged youth; CALD 
group; Aboriginal; and students with 
disability), demonstrated by the following 
examples:

• ‘Seniors in Cyberspace’ class was held to 
enable the over 60s to communicate with 
their extended family and friends in the 
social network age.

• Certificate II Hairdressing was offered to 
Aboriginal learners.

• Certificate II in Leadership and Certificate 
I in Industrial Skills were offered to various 
equity groups during the year.

• The increase in utilizing the literacy and 
numeracy support courses such as CAVSS 
and USIQ in the Trades area provided 

Strategic objective 4  
Access and equity
Improve the workforce participation rate of 
access and equity groups by engaging key 
agencies and communities, and adopting 
innovative and supportive training delivery 
strategies.

The increase in enrolments in foundation 
courses was due to the commitment of the 
Institute to engage with access and equity 
groups through partnerships with key agencies 
and community members.  Successful initiatives 
included:

• The Certificate in General Education for 
Adults (CGEA) was reintroduced and 
experienced strong demand in the lower 
certificate levels and increasing interest from 
the CALD client group, especially for 
weekend classes.

• The Institute was awarded a grant from the 
Mental Health Commission Suicide 
Prevention for $10,000, for a program ‘One 
Life’, which integrated CGEA units into 
learning.  The program was implemented at 
Kellerberrin with Aboriginal learners.

• Leadership programs continued with the 
delivery of an Aboriginal school-based 
traineeship program at Central Midlands 
Senior High School; weekend delivery to a 
CALD group in Cunderdin; delivery to an 
intellectually disabled cohort on Thursdays; 
and a ‘Try-a-Trade’ program for disengaged 
youth at the Northam campus.

• A strong partnership was established with 
Max Employment to engage students 
requiring Adult Education (CGEA); 
Information Technology; and Business 
Studies qualifications.
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in 2015 and programs specifically set up for 
Aboriginal cohorts providing an educational 
experience in a social setting.  Aboriginal staff 
at the Narrogin campus provided support with 
language, literacy and numeracy to a number of 
students studying Education Support and Retail.

Aboriginal students participated in classes 
in Certificate II Hairdressing; Certificate II 
Leadership; Certificates in General Education 
for Adults; and Certificate I in Industrial 
Skills.  Positive outcomes included students 
gaining apprenticeships, while others gained 
an enthusiasm for learning.  It is anticipated 
these positive experiences will lead to further 
enrolments in 2016. 

A Retail certificate course will be offered to 
an Aboriginal cohort in 2016 supported by 
a partnership with Volunteering WA which 
will enable work placements within the retail 
sector, creating employment opportunities while 
training.

A pathway program leading to a Local 
Government pre-employment course 
commenced late in 2015 to improve outcomes 
for Aboriginal people wanting to gain 
employment within the Local Government 
sector.  Partnerships with several local shires 
have been established to facilitate employment 
outcomes for Aboriginal people.

Disability

In 2015, eleven in-class assistants were 
deployed across study areas in face-to-face 
classes to support people with disability 
across regional campuses.  The Institute also 
supported students with disability who were 
engaged in external studies.  Students who 
normally would only participate in face-to-face 

positive outcomes for apprentices and 
trainees in Construction; Electrotechnology; 
Automotive; and in short course delivery.

• A number of lecturers were trained in 
developing pre-assessment tools which 
addressed the literacy and numeracy needs 
of students.  This assisted the lecturers to 
identify support services for students before 
they commenced their courses.

• A ‘Drop-in Day’ was trialled at Northam 
campus for students who need extra 
assistance outside class hours, and also for 
external learners. 

Aboriginal Student Services

A priority for the Aboriginal Student Services 
team during 2015 was a focus on increasing 
the level of consultation and discussion with the 
Aboriginal community regarding training and 
education for disengaged and/or unemployed 
Aboriginal people to gain practical skills; 
improve language, literacy and numeracy skills; 
as well as assist in raising feelings of self-worth 
in the community.  

Good partnerships were established with a 
number of agencies (Directions, Avon Youth, 
Northam PCYC, KEEDAC, Aboriginal Health, 
Public Health, Max Employment, Northam 
Senior High School, Clontarf Academy, 
Wirrapunda Foundation Deadly Sister Girls 
Academy) to ensure training and employment 
opportunities were addressed and positive 
outcomes reached.

Pathways and programs were developed to 
ensure increased participation, retention and 
completion rates for Aboriginal students, with 
Foundation courses (such as Leadership and 
General Education for Adults) implemented 
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Building on the successful establishment in 
2014 of the Avon Employment Development 
Group, a booklet titled employing people with 
Disability is Good for Business was created, 
and a launch was held for local businesses 
promoting inclusive hiring practices, and the 
benefits of effective education and employment 
partnerships.

Migrants

In 2015, the migrant friendly tAFe initiative 
continued to engage migrants in education 
and training at the Institute’s four main 
campuses.  The courses delivered ranged from 
foundation courses to Diploma qualification.  It 
is noteworthy that Leadership courses have 
assisted the migrants in developing literacy 
and numeracy skills which prepared them to 
progress into VET qualifications.  The majority  
of the migrants work full-time while studying 
part-time at the Institute.  A number of students 
have secured better employment after 
graduating from their VET studies.  

The VET courses that were popular with the 
migrants included Aged Care; Business; Trades 
(majority in Automotive and Metals); Retail; 
Nursing; Teacher Assistant; and Child Care.  
This initiative started in 2013 with 78 migrant 
students, with numbers doubling by 2015.

The success of this initiative can be attributed 
to the flexibility of the delivery mode; having a 
supportive Migrant Officer to liaise between the 
lecturers and students; continuous professional 
development on cultural awareness for all the 
staff in the Institute; and identifying courses that 
are attractive for migrants.

classes were happier to enrol in flexible or 
external studies, knowing they could access 
support on campus.  This level of support 
assisted students to gain work experience while 
studying.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute recognises that studying 
can create a lot of stress for some students.  
Links were added on the Institute website to 
Youth Beyond Blue, Beyond Blue, Black Dog 
Institute and Lifeline, with the phone numbers 
for Lifeline and Mental Health Emergency 
Response Line also listed.

With the assistance of expert lecturing and 
support staff, the Institute was able to offer a 
group of students with intellectual disability 
participation in the Certificate II in Leadership 
Development. The program was customised to 
suit the students’ individual needs, engaging 
and retaining students who would otherwise not 
be able to study. 

The students of this class held two awareness 
raising events during the year.  The class ran an 
‘R U OK Day’ event, inviting outside agencies, 
prospective students and other interested 
parties to promote education for equity students.  
Participants were taught how to create stress 
balls using balloons and sand.  There was 
also an area set up for guests to de-stress and 
colour pictures or create craft pieces.

At the end of the year, the Leadership students 
held an inclusive workshop to coincide with ‘WA 
Disability Awareness Week’ and ‘International 
Day of People with Disability’.  The students 
ran the workshop, teaching staff, students, and 
invited guests basic Auslan (Australian Sign 
Language) signs.  Guests were also tutored in a 
free downloadable Auslan app and engaged in 
other disability awareness activities. 
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Strategic priority 5   
people Development
Invest in staff to support innovation in the 
delivery of quality training and education 
services that maintain a high level of customer 
satisfaction within a demand driven system.

The people Development Framework 2012 - 
2014, was originally launched in 2012, with the 
aims of assisting staff to understand the benefits 
of, and therefore embrace the concept of, a 
learning culture; and to continue the Institute’s 
development as a learning organisation.  This 
framework has been successful in developing 
and articulating the Institute’s learning culture; 
assisting staff understanding of the Institute’s 
learning culture; and identifying what actions 
could enhance its further development.  This 
insight culminated in the commissioning of the 
Staff Climate Survey and a comprehensive 
action plan based on staff feedback to enhance 
the Institute’s learning culture.  

The renewal of the people Development 
Framework 2016 - 2018 during 2015 continued 
with the theme of enhancing the Institute’s 
learning culture, and continued development 
of the Institute as a learning organisation.  The 
focus of this iteration of the framework was staff 
development in the areas of:

• Occupational Safety and Health;

• Innovation; and

• Sustainability.

These themes are aligned with the VET 
Capability Framework for staff.  The foundation 
for this alignment was the development of 
an Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) 
Management Plan; an Innovation Plan; a 
Sustainability Action Plan; and the enhancement 
of the Institute’s performance management 
system for academic staff, with the VET 
Capability Framework being the driver for staff 
professional development. 

The Staff Climate Survey, which was 
conducted in 2014, saw the Institute’s Executive 
Management Team develop an implementation 
plan.  The following actions were completed 
during 2015: 

leadership and management
• Personal visits to all campuses in response 

to the perceived need for greater visibility of 
the Senior Management;

• Biannual briefings for staff, conducted by the 
Executive Management Team at each 
campus, addressing key priorities and 
significant issues, and providing an 
opportunity for staff feedback; and

• All staff were invited to provide input and 
feedback into the Institute’s Strategic Plan.

Communication and consultation
• Opportunities for staff communication were 

included within key whole of Institute 
activities including Orientation Day; PD week 
(April); Innovation Workshop; Sustainability 
Workshop; Strategic Planning Workshop; and 
Staff Development Weeks;

• The Terms of Reference for the Institute 
Consultative Committee were reviewed and  
a new format implemented; and

• An Academic Board facilitated dialogue with 
staff on quality and compliance issues.
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Recognition and support
• In addition to the Academic Board, a new 

supportive structure comprising of Advanced 
Skills Lecturers was implemented to provide 
additional avenues to address academic 
matters and associated work practices, one 
on one with lecturing staff where appropriate;

• The Institute’s Performance Management 
Review system was reviewed with a focus on 
the VET Capability Framework for academic 
staff;

• An online induction program was 
implemented to support new staff; and

• A number of staff recognition processes were 
reinforced including annual Staff 
Achievement Awards; regular emails of 
recognition from the Managing Director for 
staff, both individually and collectively; and 
formal public recognition through the 
Institute’s Governing Council.

The Academic Services Directorate shared 
the best practice information through a 
number of initiatives such as team meetings, 
professional development weeks (blue weeks), 
and Innovation and Sustainability workshops.  
Information that was shared had generated 
interest in the areas of quality and compliance, 
sustainable delivery and assessment, online 
delivery, supporting students and industry 
consultations.   

Academic staff identified students who had 
demonstrated success in their industry as 
a result of their learning experience at the 
Institute.   The students’ experience was 
published monthly in the local newspapers, and 
selected students were showcased on the 
Alumni Achievers wall within the Office of the 
Managing Director. 

The Sustainability Committee meets four 
times a year to monitor the implementation 
and achievement of the key performance 
indicators for the 2015 C.Y. o’Connor Institute 
Sustainability Action plan.  In 2015, the 
use of paper across the Institute has been 
reduced by 25 per cent; car-pooling became 
accepted practice within the Institute, and 
encouraged where possible; students and staff 
induction included sustainability practices; 
a healthy lifestyle was widely promoted and 
accepted by the staff, involving participation in 
community events such as walk to work; walks 
at lunchtimes and in the morning before work; 
and sit / stand desks were introduced across the 
Institute.   
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Ongoing maintenance of the Institute quality 
system policies procedures and forms continued 
with some 268 additions and amendments 
occurring during 2015.

Customer Feedback in 2015 included a total 
of four formal complaints relating to training 
delivery (two); the enrolment process; and 
information technology support.

Maintenance of the Institute’s scope of delivery 
continued throughout the year with a total of 
19 qualifications / units of competency being 
added to scope and 15 qualifications / units 
of competency being removed.  At the end of 
2015 there were 121 qualifications and units of 
competency on the Institute’s registered scope 
of delivery.

TAC audits undertaken during the year 
included extension to scope audits for 
MSF20313 Certificate II in Furniture Making; 
the Microchipping Skill Set from the Animal 
Care and Management Training Package; 
AUR21812 Certificate II in Automotive Steering 
and Suspension System Technology; and 
AUR21913 Certificate II in Automotive Tyre 
Servicing Technology.

A Strategic Audit was conducted by TAC 
for MEM20105 Certificate II in Engineering 
delivered as a VET-in-Schools program.

Strategic priority 6   
Governance
Demonstrate good governance and compliance.

The Institute continues to strive for excellence 
in ensuring that all compliance requirements 
are met.  Throughout 2015, the Institute 
reviewed and updated a number of policies 
and procedures, and in particular, developed 
two delegation documents – C.Y. o’Connor 
Institute Delegations Manual and C.Y. 
o’Connor Institute Academic Services 
Delegations Manual.

The Institute also continued to implement its 
occupational Safety and Health Management 
plan 2013 – 2015, with a view to obtaining silver 
status in 2016.

Quality and Scope

The Standards for Registered Training 
Organisations 2015 came into effect in Western 
Australia on 6 April, 2015 and apply to all 
Registered Training Organisations registered by 
the Training Accreditation Council (TAC).  The 
new standards replaced the Australian Quality 
Training Framework.

The new standards required the ongoing 
submission of Quality Indicators to TAC on an 
annual basis. The Institute provided TAC with 
Learner Satisfaction and Employer Satisfaction 
Quality Indicator data gathered through 
surveys that were conducted in early 2015 with 
satisfaction results of 93.8 per cent and 96.2 per 
cent respectively.

The Teaching and Learning Section completed 
17 internal audits which assessed compliance 
levels of lecturing staff involved in delivery 
and assessment activities within the Institute.  
These were conducted by trained staff across 
academic areas of the Institute.

2015 Achievements
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Commercial operations

The commercial operations target for 2015 was 
$1.4 million.  During the year the Australian 
Wool Industry and Acacia Prison fee for service 
delivery contracts ceased, and there was also a 
significant reduction in state and commonwealth 
grants and tenders.  As a consequence of the 
limited commercial opportunities, the Institute 
did not achieve the revenue target.

 Examples of commercial activity include:

• Local Government Delivery ($13,512.97) 
- C.Y. O’Connor Institute is the only State 
Training Provider that delivers Local 
Government-specific training in the State, 
with most of this delivery occurring under 
Profile hours.   The Local Government 
lecturing team delivered a range of fee-for-
service programs in the Wheatbelt region 
and beyond, with delivery focused on 
recognition of prior learning, and reskilling 
and upskilling the workforce to sustain the 
needs of the local government sector into  
the future.

• Grants and Tenders ($137,180) - the projects 
delivered in 2015 addressed the Access and 
Equity groups such as Aboriginal people; 
Youth at Risk; and People with Disability.

• Partnership with Disability Services 
Commission ($75,000) – developed on-line 
and blended learning materials for Certificate 
III in Disability qualification.

• Sale of goods ($37,438) - Net income from 
cafeteria and bookshop sales.
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Certification of  
Key Performance IndicatorsKey Performance Indicators

For the year ended 31 December, 2015

We hereby certify that the Key Performance Indicators are based on proper records, are relevant 
and appropriate for assisting users of the information to assess the performance of C.Y. O’Connor 
Institute, and fairly represent the performance of the Institute for the financial year ended 31 
December, 2015.

Bryant Stokes AM

Chair, Governing Council 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
11 March, 2016

John Scott

Managing Director 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
11 March, 2016
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Desired OutcomeKey Performance Indicators

The provision of vocational education and 
training services to meet community and 
industry training needs.

The Key Performance Indicators measure the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the Institute.  
There are four Effectiveness Indicators and 
one Efficiency Indicator.  The indicators show 
the extent to which C.Y. O’Connor Institute has 
achieved the vocational education and training 
services to meet community and industry 
training needs.

Targets for the five Key Performance Indicators 
were based upon the 2015 Delivery and 
Performance Agreement; the 2014 Managing 
Director’s Performance Assessment; the 
2014 Student Satisfaction Survey produced 
by Patterson Market Research; and the 2014 
Student Outcomes C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
Report produced by the National Centre 
for Vocational Education Research Ltd in 
cooperation with the Department of Education, 
Employment and Workplace Relations. Targets 
were presented and accepted by the Governing 
Council at their meeting on 13 April 2015.
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Key performance Indicator 1: overall Student Satisfaction
To determine performance against Key Performance Indicator 1 (Overall Student Satisfaction), the 
Institute has used the 2015 Student Satisfaction Survey, conducted by Patterson Market Research 
on behalf of the Department of Training and Workforce Development.  The data presented below is 
taken from survey question number 23: ‘overall how satisfied are you with this course?’  Students 
were required to rate their satisfaction on a scale of ‘Very Dissatisfied’ to ‘Very Satisfied’.  The 
overall student satisfaction reported is a combination of ‘Very Satisfied’ and ‘Satisfied’ students.

1,705 students were contacted to complete the survey; and 423 successfully responded.  This 
indicates a response rate of 24.8% for C.Y. O’Connor Institute.  

The survey Confidence Interval at 95% Confidence level is (+/-) 2.7%.

2012 Actual(1) 2013 Actual 2014 Actual 2015 Target 2015 Actual
CYOC Institute 92.7% 89.1% 88.4% 90.0% 88.0%
Western Australia 86.3% 85.9% 86.9% N/A 87.8%

Source: Student Satisfaction Survey 2015: C.Y. o’Connor Institute, December 2015, conducted by patterson 
Market Research on behalf of the Department of training and Workforce Development.

notes: 
(1) The formula used to derive the weightings was changed in 2012, and all data provided above reflect the new 
weightings. the WA Student Satisfaction Survey is an annual survey amongst students who are funded under 
the national Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development. the following student groups have been 
excluded from the scope of the survey: international full fee paying students, students undergoing training 
through a school based program (Vet in Schools), students who are in a correctional facility and students 
aged less than 15 years.

All data described in this report have been weighted to reflect the total student population based on a 
combination of student gender (male/female), age group (15-19, 20-29, 30-44, 45+), student status (IBS, EBS) 
and training provider. Weight cells with a zero count for the population and survey data were removed.
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Key performance Indicator 2: Graduate employment
To determine the Institute’s performance against Key Performance Indicator 2 (Graduate 
Employment), the Institute uses the Student Outcomes Survey, conducted by the National Centre 
for Vocational Education Research Ltd (NCVER).  It is a survey of students who have successfully 
completed vocational education and training (VET) in Australia, which includes graduates (students 
who have completed a qualification) and module completers (students who have completed part 
of a course, at least one unit of competency, without gaining a qualification and have left the 
vocational education and training system).

The Student Outcome Survey is conducted at an Institute level every second year.  In 2012 and 
2014, the Student Outcomes Survey was not completed at an Institute level and consequently the 
Institute is unable to report against this Key Performance Indicator in those years.  As the survey 
was conducted at a national level in 2015, this data is able to be reported.

The NCVER results reported in 2015 indicate that the Institute again outperformed both Western 
Australian and national providers.
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2012 Actual 2013 Actual 2014 Actual 2015 Target 2015 Actual
Graduates Employed
CYOC Institute N/A 83.3% N/A 84% 94%
WA N/A 80.4% N/A N/A 78.6%
Australia 77.8%(1) 77.1% 77.6%(1) N/A 74.2%
Graduates Unemployed
CYOC Institute N/A 7.4% N/A 5% 2.1%
WA N/A 10.8% N/A N/A 13.5%
Australia 12.5%(1) 13.2% 13.9%(1) N/A 17.4%
Graduates Not in Labour Force
CYOC Institute N/A 9.1% N/A 9.5% 3.9%
WA N/A 8.5% N/A N/A 7.8%
Australia 9.5%(1) 9.6% 8.2%(1) N/A 8.1%

Source: the Social Research Centre 2015, Australian vocational education and training statistics: 
government-funded student outcomes: 2015 C.Y. o’Connor Institute report, the Social Research Centre, 
Melbourne. the total population of C.Y. o’Connor Institute graduates surveyed was 605 and 215 valid 
responses were received. The Institute’s relative Confidence Interval at the 95% Confidence Level was as 
follows:

• Graduates Employed ±2.9%

• Graduates Unemployed ±1.7%

• Graduates Not in Labour Force ±2.4%.

notes: 
(1) only Vet Australia data reported, as Institute data not available.
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Key performance Indicator 3: Student outcomes - Achievement of Main Reason 
for Studying
This Indicator also uses the Student Outcomes Survey to determine performance against the Key 
Performance Indicator.

The Student Outcome Survey is conducted at an Institute level every second year.  In 2012 and 
2014, the Student Outcomes Survey was not completed at an Institute level and consequently the 
Institute is unable to report against this Key Performance Indicator in those years.  As the survey 
was conducted at a national level in 2015, this data is able to be reported.

Graduate achievement measures the extent to which the Institute graduates have wholly or partly 
achieved their main reason for undertaking their course.  The measure shows the proportion of 
graduates who indicated they had fully or partly achieved their main reason for doing the training.  
The question has four response options - ‘Yes’, ‘No’, ‘Partly’ or ‘Don’t know yet’.

The NCVER results reported in 2015 indicate that the Institute again outperformed both Western 
Australian and national providers.

2012 Actual 2013 Actual 2014 Actual 2015 Target 2015 Actual
CYOC Institute N/A 91.8% N/A 92% 91.9%
WA N/A 85.8% N/A N/A 84.3%
Australia 84.8%(1) 83.8% 82.4%(1) N/A 80.4%

Source: the Social Research Centre 2015, Australian vocational education and training statistics: 
government-funded student outcomes: 2015 C.Y. o’Connor Institute report, the Social Research Centre, 
Melbourne. the total population of C.Y. o’Connor Institute graduates surveyed was 605 and 215 valid 
responses were received. The Institute’s relative Confidence Interval was ±3.8% at the 95% Confidence Level.

notes: 
(1) only Vet Australia data reported, as Institute data not available.
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Key Performance Indicator 4: Achievement of Institute Profile
The achievement of Institute Profile is a performance measure that demonstrates the Institute’s 
effectiveness in meeting planned vocational education and training services while addressing 
community and industry needs.  The Institute Profile is identified in the Delivery and Performance 
Agreement (DPA) with the Department of Training and Workforce Development (DTWD) each year.

Achievement of Institute Profile compares planned Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) with achieved 
SCH. In 2015, the Institute negotiated with DTWD a Profile target of 595,704 SCH.  The Institute 
achieved 92% of this target.

YEAR Planned SCH Achieved SCH % Achieved
2007 500,145 504,754 100.92%
2008 562,745 542,554 96.41%
2009 561,404 561,433 100.01%
2010 569,500 552,104 96.95%
2011 631,900 621,404 98.34%
2012 628,700 627,058 99.74%
2013 608,346 625,187 102.77%
2014 595,704 595,803 100.02%
2015 595,704 545,522 91.91%

Source: Verified Institute Census Data 2015.

The ACHIEVED SCH table is supported by the following table, 2015 AnZSCo Groups.  At the 1 
January, 2014, the Department of Training and Workforce Development introduced a change in 
reporting of SCH from the Industry Groups to certified occupational groups.  This was done to align 
training more to the occupation, than to industry.
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The following table illustrates the outcomes using the Australia and new Zealand Standard 
Certified Occupations Groups (ANZSCO).   

2015 AnZSCo Groups

ANZSCO Group SCH 
Delivered 
2014

SCH 
Planned 
2015

SCH 
Delivered 
2015

Variance 
In SCH

1 MAnAGeRS 35,681 32,167 41,238 9,071
11 Chief Executives, General Managers and 

Legislators
4,250 4,000 580 -3,420

12 Farmers and Farm Managers 28,556 24,820 27,210 2,390
13 Specialist Managers 2,875 3,347 13,448 10,101
14 Hospitality, Retail and Service Managers 0 0 0 0
2 pRoFeSSIonAlS 31,416 25,650 26,157 507
21 Arts and Media Professionals 12,345 8,500 12,896 4,396
22 Business, Human Resources and Marketing 

Professionals
0 0 0 0

23 Design, Engineering, Science and Transport 
Professionals

17,746 15,150 11,586 -3,564

24 Educational Professionals 1,325 2,000 1,675 -325
25 Health Professionals 0 0 0 0
26 ICT Professionals 0 0 0 0
27 Legal, Social and Welfare Professionals 0 0 0 0
3 teCHnICIAnS AnD tRADe WoRKeRS 96,318 93,045 74,927 -18,118
31 Engineering, ICT and Science Technicians 640 0 0 0
32 Automotive and Engineering Trades Workers 35,453 34,700 31,073 -3,627
33 Construction Trades Workers 15,757 14,500 19,735 5,235
34 Electrotechnology and Telecommunications 

Trade
792 800 684 -116

35 Food Trades Workers 0 0 0 0
36 Skilled Animal and Horticulture Workers 12,021 13,240 250 -12,990
39 Other Technicians and Trades Workers 31,655 29,805 23,185 -6,620
4 CoMMunItY AnD peRSonAl SeRVICe 

WoRKeRS
212,922 183,490 177,687 -5,803

41 Health and Welfare Support Workers 47,195 56,330 57,940 1,610
42 Carers and Aides 151,660 111,270 104,677 -6,603
43 Hospitality Workers 0 0 0 0
44 Protective Service Workers 1,382 2,000 0 -2,000
45 Sports and Personal Service Workers 12,685 13,890 15,070 1,180
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Effectiveness Indictators

ANZSCO Group SCH 
Delivered 
2014

SCH 
Planned 
2015

SCH 
Delivered 
2015

Variance 
in SCH

5 CleRICAl AnD ADMInIStRAtIVe 
WoRKeRS

88,802 95,950 79,875 -16,075

51 Office Managers and Program Administrators 4,190 3,791 4,185 394
52 Personal Assistants and Secretaries 2,605 2,729 610 -2,119
53 General Clerical Workers 66,015 68,130 39,985 -28,145
54 Inquiry Clerks and Receptionists 0 0 0 0
55 Numerical Clerks 4,410 4,000 3,165 -835
56 Clerical and Office Support Workers 0 0 0 0
59 Other Clerical and Administrative Workers 11,582 17,300 31,930 14,630
6 SAleS WoRKeRS 15,802 17,842 5,790 -12,052
61 Sales Representatives and Agents 60 50 0 -50
62 Sales Assistants and Salespersons 15,742 17,792 5,790 -12,002
7 MACHIneRY opeRAtoRS AnD DRIVeRS 3,179 4,500 2,792 -1,708
71 Machine and Stationary Plant Operators 0 500 0 -500
72 Mobile Plant Operators 3,179 4,000 2,792 -1,208
73 Road and Rail Drivers 0 0 0 0
74 Storepersons 0 0 0 0
8 lABouReRS 78,787 81,590 97,626 16,036
81 Cleaners and Laundry Workers 0 0 0 0
82 Construction and Mining Labourers 14,970 15,373 35,182 19,809
83 Factory Process Workers 13,127 13,919 17,887 3,968
84 Farm, Forestry and Garden Workers 18,458 16,690 6,271 -10,419
85 Food Preparation Assistants 0 0 0 0
89 Other Labourers 32,232 35,608 37,855 2,247
G GeneRAl eDuCAtIon 32,896 61,470 39,430 -22,040
GB Adult Literacy/ESL 17,740 46,965 27,225 -19,740
GC Languages 0 0 0 0
GD Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0
GE Targeted Courses 15,156 14,505 12,205 -2,300
totAl SCH 595,803 595,704 545,522 -50,182

Source: 2015 Delivery and Performance Agreement for C.Y. O’Connor Institute, pages 18 & 19, and Verified 
Institute Census Data 2014 & 2015.
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Effectiveness Indictators

Non-Profile Delivery

As stated above, Profile Delivery refers to the SCH negotiated with the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development via the Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA).  Non-Profile Delivery 
refers to all courses that are not funded through the DPA.  To meet the full range of training required 
by community and industry, the Institute delivers a range of programs that are not incorporated 
within the Institute Profile.  The programs provided are commercial, fee-for-service programs; 
and lifestyle courses.  Non-Profile Delivery is presented below, with the percentage of Non-Profile 
training delivered by the Institute in that year.

2012 Actual 2013 Actual 2014 Actual 2015 Target 2015 Actual
Non-profile delivery 101,445 78,849 59,404 70,000 75,413(1)

% of training delivery 13.93% 11.20% 9.07% 10.51% 12.06%

Source: Verified Institute Census Data 2015.

notes: 
(1) The final Non-Profile Figure includes SCH for Auspicing in Schools – 37,530 SCH, Fee for Service – 34,878 
SCH and Competitive Allocated tender – 2,925 SCH and International Fee for Service - 85 SCH

Non-Profile Delivery

50,000 SCH

0

150,000 SCH

100,000 SCH

2012 2013 2014 2015

Non-Profile Delivery
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Efficiency IndicatorKey Performance Indicators

Key performance Indicator 5: Cost per Student Curriculum Hour (SCH)
Cost per SCH delivered is a performance measure that demonstrates the efficiency of the Institute 
in providing vocational education and training services to meet community and industry needs.

The Cost per SCH measure shows the overall unit cost per SCH delivered through both Profile 
and Non-Profile activities, based on the Total Cost of Services, as detailed in the 2015 Financial 
Statements.

The Cost per SCH delivered in 2015 was $28.18.

2012 Actual 2013 Actual 2014 Actual 2015 Target 2015 Actual
Total Cost of Services $17,737,743 $17,444,317 $17,119,052 $18,991,321 $17,497,371
Total SCH Delivered 728,503 704,036 655,207 665,704  620,935(1)

Total Cost per SCH 
Delivered

$24.35 $24.78 $26.13 $28.53 $28.18

Source: Verified Institute Census Data 2015.

notes: 
(1) Total SCH is derived from Achieved Profile of 545,522 SCH and Non-Profile Delivery of 75,413 SCH.

Total Cost per SCH Delivered

$22.00
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$25.00

2012 2013 2014 2015

$27.00
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Significant Issues and Trends

The significant issues and trends outlined here 
are relevant to both C.Y. O’Connor Institute and 
the vocational education and training sector in 
the Wheatbelt.

Future Skills WA
In line with the Future Skills WA model, the 
Institute is seeking to increase the number of 
courses on the priority industry qualification list.  
The Institute has increased the focus on flexible 
(including online) delivery that can attract 
students from beyond the traditional boundaries 
of the Institute.  This was a successful strategy 
in 2015 and will likely continue in 2016 with 
increased emphasis.

Changing student profiles
The profile of student cohorts is changing within 
the Institute due to a combination of internal 
and external factors.  Students from a culturally 
and linguistically diverse (CALD) background 
are increasing due to the positive impact of 
the Institute’s migrant-friendly tAFe initiative 
– now in its third year of implementation.  
Students with a CALD background accounted 
for six per cent of the entire delivery effort (as 
measured by student curriculum hours) in 2015.  
For the first time in seven years, the Institute did 
not reach its Profile target in employment-based 
training (EBT) in 2015.  This is mainly attributed 
to declining levels of activity within the building 
and construction industry within Wheatbelt, 
coupled with a preference within the fabrication 
sector for employing workers on 457 visas.  The 
achievement of the Profile target in EBT will be 
a focus of management attention in 2016.

Specialisation
An emerging issue (and market opportunity) 
for the Institute is that of ‘specialisation’ within 
one or more study areas.  The Institute has 
market leadership within the TAFE sector for 
delivery in Local Government with nine courses 
on scope, and plans commenced in 2015 to 
establish the WA local Government Academy 
as the marketing vehicle to further promote 
this capability together with expansion into 
Emergency Management training.  Another 
study area currently under examination is 
Agriculture, where the Institute delivers fourteen 
programs including an undergraduate degree.

Infrastructure
The Institute has, as a priority, the requirement 
to upgrade the infrastructure at the Narrogin 
campus.  The Narrogin campus directly supports 
25 per cent of the population of the Wheatbelt, 
and an upgrade to the facility will significantly 
assist in providing training and employment 
opportunities for students within the region.

pathways between school, Vet and 
higher education
Policies at the state and national level continue 
to support increased participation across all 
levels of the educational spectrum.  In order 
to meet the educational aspirations of the 
population of the Wheatbelt, the Institute has 
pursued a strategy as a multi-sector institution, 
with strong pathways from school to VET to 
higher education.  The most highly developed 
example within the Institute is in the study 
area of Agribusiness, where the pathway 
includes delivery of a three-year undergraduate 
degree.  During the course of 2015, the Institute 
signed an articulation agreement with Charles 
Darwin University to facilitate a pathway for 
graduates of the Diploma of Enrolled Nursing 
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Significant Issues and Trends

Commercial operations
Revenue flows from commercial VET operations 
have shown a marked decline in the last three 
years – from $440,000 in 2013, to $320,000 in 
2014, and $290,000 in 2015.  It is important that 
better outcomes are achieved in this area, and 
measures have been put in place in 2016 to 
address this.  

The delivery of higher education within the 
Institute, which is being undertaken as a 
commercial operation, is set to make a positive 
contribution to commercial revenue in 2016 
with an anticipated enrolment of more than 30 
students.

qualification, who have little or no opportunity 
to study in Perth, to progress to Registered 
Nursing via external studies.  Concurrently, 
during 2015 the Institute more than doubled the 
number of enrolments from school students (85 
enrolments) in the Certificate IV in Preparation 
for Nursing Education, which is a pathway 
program to prepare students for enrolling in the 
Diploma of Enrolled Nursing.

teaching and learning
Arguably, the most significant challenge for 
the Institute in 2015 has been the task of 
maintaining compliance with the Standards for 
Rtos 2015 across the entire delivery spectrum.  
This has necessitated a disproportionate 
investment in teaching and learning (T&L) 
support for a busy team of lecturers whose 
task is to deliver training to students dispersed 
across a land mass nearly the size of Victoria.  
To support the lecturers, the Institute has 
established an Academic Board; employed 
additional (non-funded) Principal Lecturers 
as T&L guides and mentors; and invited an 
experienced TAC auditor to sit as a member 
of the Academic Board to provide additional 
guidance and support.
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Strategic Priorities for 2016

StRAteGIC pRIoRItIeS 2016 - 2018
Strategic objective 1 
Workforce Development

Provide training and education services that 
contribute to sustaining regional communities 
and state workforce development.

Strategic objective 2 
open learning and Flexible Delivery

Increase access to training and education 
services by providing open learning and flexible 
delivery models for clients in the Wheatbelt and 
beyond.

Strategic objective 3  
tertiary pathways

Increase access to tertiary education and 
employment by providing flexible training and 
education pathways.

Strategic objective 4 
Access and equity

Improve the workforce participation rate of 
access and equity groups by engaging key 
agencies and communities, and adopting 
innovative and supportive training delivery 
strategies.

Strategic objective 5 
people Development

Invest in staff to support innovation in the 
delivery of quality training and education 
services that maintain a high level of customer 
satisfaction within a demand driven system.

Strategic objective 6 
Governance

Demonstrate good governance and compliance.

The Workforce Development and tertiary 
pathways: Strategic plan 2016-2018 was 
submitted to the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development on 29 October, 2015 
and approved by the Minister on 6 January, 
2016.  The key priorities from the new strategic 
plan are shown below:

Vision
C.Y. O’Connor Institute is recognised as an 
innovative and high-performing provider of 
training and education services that contributes 
to regional and state workforce development.

Mission
Our mission is to provide quality training and 
education services to enable our students in the 
Wheatbelt and beyond to achieve their potential.

Values
• Quality

• Honesty

• Respect

• Integrity

• Teamwork

• Sustainability
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Business Plan for 2016

Initiative 2

Promote pathways from high school to further 
training, leading to employment. The Institute 
will continue to develop marketing material 
appropriate to young people that will highlight 
the pathways available for students leaving or 
finishing high school and looking for skills to 
gain employment. 

Initiative 3

In 2016 the Institute will capitalise on its up-
skilling of staff in order to provide CAVSS and 
USIQ support to students. These programs 
have been highly successful in the Trades 
delivery area and strategies are in place to 
roll out across other delivery areas within the 
Institute in 2016. 

Initiative 4

With the introduction of Future Skills WA in 
2014, the Institute has assessed the feasibility 
of expanding the qualifications on scope to 
align more directly with the Priority Industry 
Qualifications List 2016, noting that the majority 
of the delivery within the Institute is currently 
within General Industry Training.  One of 
the outcomes of the thin market across the 
Wheatbelt is the limited opportunity to deliver 
higher level qualifications in a financially 
responsible manner, however efforts are being 
made to provide quality services in innovative 
ways in a market which is very competitively 
priced. One methodology is to provide 
synchronous delivery online and recorded 
lectures for those learners who are unable to 
attend classes at the scheduled times. 

The 2016 Business plan was submitted to 
the Department of Training and Workforce 
Development on 29 October, 2015 and 
approved by the Minister on 6 January, 2016.

Key initiatives
The key initiatives for C.Y. O’Connor Institute  
in 2016 are:

Initiative 1

Continuing to develop a migrant-friendly study 
environment to attract unskilled and semi-
skilled migrants to enhance their skills. The 
Institute has developed an Operational Plan for 
Migrant Studies to consolidate and strengthen 
the structure developed in the last two years.  
The Institute has also established a Migrant 
Support Group that mentors, coaches and 
supports migrant students enrolled in the 
Institute.  This Group assists with providing 
cultural awareness training to staff within the 
Institute and serves as a liaison between the 
students and the Institute as required. 
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Significantly fewer trainees and apprentices 
have enrolled in 2015 and this may be due 
to both increased tuition fees and reduced 
employer incentives.  Plans for 2016 include 
a strengthening of partnerships with relevant 
organisations such as Group Training 
Organisations to maximise the exposure of the 
Institute across the Wheatbelt and beyond.

Commercial operations
C.Y. O’Connor Institute is committed to 
developing a comprehensive commercial 
capacity.  Through commercial activities the 
Institute will seek to diversify its source funding 
and manage the risks associated with being 
reliant upon the Delivery and Performance 
Agreement as the single funding source.  
Furthermore, it facilitates an opportunity for 
the Institute to provide additional customised 
services to the Wheatbelt community.  The 
Institute has a target of $600,000 for fee-for-
service revenue in 2016.

State Profile Delivery
In 2016, C.Y. O’Connor Institute plans to deliver 
593,515 SCH.

training in priority Areas
In line with the Future Skills WA priority 
industry qualifications list, the Institute is 
in a position to offer twelve (12) of the 102 
nominated qualifications in 2016. 

While the priority foundation skills courses 
have been limited in their initial uptake, plans 
to expand delivery in this area in 2016 are in 
place to support a broader range of learners 
across multiple delivery modes through face-to-
face arrangements customised for each student 
group.  It is expected that this combination of 
innovative practice will ensure an enriched 
learning environment for Wheatbelt students 
who traditionally have not been able to access 
this level of support. 

While WA-based industry may have high levels 
of demand for advanced skilled employees, 
high demand in the Wheatbelt has not been 
evident at the Certificate III levels and above.  
A diminished demand has been apparent in 
2015 and special efforts are being assessed 
to minimise the effect of increased fees related 
to the higher level qualifications in 2016.  
Strategies under consideration are the offering 
of skill sets or unit bundles rather than complete 
qualifications for both profile and commercial 
delivery.  Also under consideration is the option 
of providing alternative qualifications in 2016 
which may attract more interest at the certificate 
III level. 
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Legislation Impacting on the InstituteDisclosures & Compliance

• Limitation Act 2005

• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 
1993

• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

• Occupiers Liability Act 1985

• Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971

• Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972

• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

• Public Sector Management Act 1994

• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

• School Education Act 1999

• State Records Act 2000

• State Superannuation Act 2000

• State Supply Commission Act 1991

• Vocational Education and Training Act 1996

• Workers Compensation (Common Law 
Proceedings) Act 2004

• Workers Compensation and Injury 
Management (Acts of Terrorism) Act 2001

• Workers Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981

• Working with Children (Criminal Record 
Checking) Act 2004

State legislation
• Australian Crime Commission (Western 

Australia) Act 2004

• Corporations (WA) Act 1990

• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003

• Criminal Code Compilation Act 1913

• Disability Services Act 1993

• Education Service Providers (Full fee 
overseas students) Registration Act 1991

• Electoral Act 1907

• Electronic Transactions Act 2011

• Employment Dispute Resolution Act 2008

• Equal Opportunity Act 1984

• Evidence Act 1906

• Fair Trading Act 2010

• Financial Management Act 2006

• Freedom of Information Act 1992

• Government Financial Responsibility Act 
2000

• Industrial Relations Act 1979

• Interpretation Act 1984

• Library Board of WA Act 1951
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Legislation Impacting on the Institute

• Human Rights and Equal Opportunity 
Commission Act 1986

• Immigration (Education) Act 1971

• Immigration (Education) Charge Act 1992

• Income Tax Assessment Act 1997

• Indigenous Education (Targeted Assistance) 
Act 2000

• Industrial Relations Act 1995

• Privacy Act 1988

• Racial Discrimination Act 1975

• Sex Discrimination Act 1984

• Skilling Australia’s Workforce Act 2005

• SPAM Act 2003

• Superannuation Act 2005

• Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act 1992

• Trade Practices Amendment Act (No.2) 2010

• Workplace Relations Act 1996

Federal legislation
• A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax 

Act) 1999

• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Act 
2005

• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Commission Amendment Act 2005

• Age Discrimination Act 2004

• Archives Act 1983

• Competition and Consumer Act 2010

• Copyright Act 1968

• Copyright Amendment (Digital Agenda) Act 
2000

• Cybercrime Act 2001

• Disability Discrimination Act 1992

• Equal Employment Opportunity Act 1987

• Fair Work Act 2009

• Freedom of Information Act 1982

• Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/sawa2005322
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/aatsia2005359
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/aatsia2005359
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/aatsicaa2005558
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/caaa2000294
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/caaa2000294
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A common Record Keeping Plan has been adopted across the network of State Training Providers, 
which sets out strategies for uniform compliance with the State Records Act (2000).  The Institute 
works closely with other State Training Providers (STPs) to review and improve record keeping 
processes and procedures.

Continued training has been planned for key staff in regard to the new schedule which will assist 
with the implementation, and provide better compliance, of the STP wide Record Keeping Plan.

No Ministerial Directives relevant to the setting or achievement of desired outcomes, operational 
objectives, investment activities or financial activities were issued to the Institute in 2015.

Record Keeping PlanDisclosures & Compliance

Ministerial DirectivesDisclosures & Compliance
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Staffing Overview
C.Y. O’Connor Institute employs staff in 
lecturing and non-lecturing positions including 
administration and support.  The average 
number of full time, part time and casual staff is 
detailed below:

total Staff (1)

2012 2013 2014 2015
Average 
Staff Head 
Count

162 149.75 148 130.5

Average 
FTE

131.75 123.41 121.9 110.7

Staff Breakdown 2015 as at  
31st December 2015(1) 

Head 
Count

FTE

Academic Delivery 64 58.5
Academic Management / 
Support

29 24.8

Business Services 13 11.9
Managing Director’s Office 
(includes Higher Education 
Project)

15 10.8

totAl 121.0 106.0

notes: 
(1) Figures based on Human Resource Minimum 
obligatory Information Requirements (HRMoIR).

Industrial Relations
An Institute Consultative Committee provides 
all staff with the opportunity to share, discuss 
and resolve matters that impact on workplace 
issues.  

No major industrial relations claims are 
reportable for 2015 and there were no matters 
referred to the Industrial Relations Commission 
or similar jurisdictions.

Employment and Industrial RelationsDisclosures & Compliance

Staff Development
In 2015 the Institute focused its professional 
development activities on ensuring that all 
Institute staff have the knowledge, skills and 
abilities needed to meet the delivery and 
regulatory requirements of the vocational 
education and training sector.

This focus included:

• significant investment in training for lecturers 
to meet the requirements of the new 
Standards for Rtos 2015;

• the adoption of the Vet practitioner 
Capability Framework and its integration 
into the Institute’s Performance Management 
Review system; and

• the allocation of Advanced Skills Lecturers  
to academic portfolios within the Institute to 
provide academic leadership and support to 
lecturing staff. 

During 2015, Institute staff collectively 
participated in 4,807 hours of both internal 
and external professional development.  This 
comprised of 589 staff participations in a total of 
100 unique professional development activities.

A number of targeted professional development 
activities were conducted throughout the 
year and were well-received by staff.  These 
included:

• Whole of Institute Orientation Day;

• Lecturers’ Orientation Day;

• Innovation Forum;

• Training Forum;

• Defensive Driving Training; and

• Sustainability Forum
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Governance DisclosuresDisclosures & Compliance

Conflict Of Interest Disclosure 
Statement
Section 102 of the Public Sector Management 
Act (1994) obligates staff to avoid placing 
themselves in situations which could result in a 
conflict of interest for the Institute.  A conflict of 
interest occurs when:

• The private interests of staff conflict directly 
or indirectly with their obligations to the 
Institute.

• Members of staff receive significant benefits 
such as gifts from a person doing or seeking 
to do business with the Institute which could 
be interpreted as creating an obligation to 
that person.

• Members of staff act in ways which may 
cause others to question their commitment to 
the Institute.

Conflicts of Interest were reported by the 
following members of Governing Council during 
2015:

• Mr Steven Pollard

• Dr Christine Storer

• Mr Paul Tomlinson

No Gifts were reported during 2015.  

At the date of reporting, other than normal 
contracts of employment of service, no Senior 
Officers or firms of which Senior Officers are 
members, or entities in which Senior Officers 
have substantial interests, had any interests 
in existing or proposed contracts with C.Y. 
O’Connor Institute.

public Interest Disclosure Statement
The Public Interest Disclosure Act (2003) came 
into effect on 1 July 2003, requiring the Institute 
to:

• facilitate the disclosure of public information;

• provide protection for those who make 
disclosures; and

• provide protection for those who are the 
subject of disclosure.

The policy details internal procedures relating to 
the Institute’s obligations under the Act, and the 
protection for persons who make disclosures 
under the Act.  This Public Interest Disclosure 
function is delegated to the office of the Director, 
People and Performance. 

No Public Interest Disclosure requests were 
reported during 2015.
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C.Y. o’Connor Institute Governing Council Remuneration
Position Name Type of Remuneration Period of 

Membership
Gross/actual 
remuneration**

Chair Professor Bryant 
Stokes

Sitting fees   5 months $8843

Chair/Deputy 
Chair

Ms Eileen O’Connell Sitting fees 12 months $13,612

Deputy Chair Ms Jan Court Sitting fees   6 months $2470
Member Ms Helen Bennett Sitting fees 12 months $3198
Member Ms Regina Hill Sitting fees 12 months $2289
Member Ms Sandra Randell Sitting fees 12 months $3411
Member Dr Christine Storer N/A – Govt. employee   6 months N/A
Member Mr Greg Humphries Sitting fees 12 months $3587
Member Mr Steven Pollard Sitting fees   6 months $1577
Member Mr Paul Tomlinson Sitting fees 12 months $3057
Member Mr Aaron Cook N/A – Govt. employee   6 months N/A
Member Mr Ross Ainsworth Sitting fees   6 months $2096
Member Mr John Scott Ex-officio 12 months N/A

**Includes superannuation
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AdvertisingDisclosures & Compliance

Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, requires the Institute to report on expenditure incurred 
during the financial year in relation to advertising agencies, market research organisations, polling 
organisations, direct mail organisations and media advertising organisations.

The total expenditure for 2015 was $125,954.87 (GST exclusive).

Expenditure was incurred as follows:

Category Name of Organisation/s Amount of Expenditure
Advertising Agencies OMD (for press only) 

AdCorp
$115,962.99 
$9,991.88

Market Research Organisations
Polling Organisations
Direct Mail Organisations
Media Advertising 
Organisations

Media Decisions (OMD) 
Other Media Organisations

Advertising and Sponsorship 
The Institute was successful in securing sponsorship for many of its awards.  Details of this 
sponsorship are as follows:

Graduation Sponsorship  

Construction Training Fund Awards for Excellence in Training ($2000) - Year 11 Student of the Year, 
Year 12 Student of the Year 

Department of Agriculture and Food WA ($550) - Regional Primary Industries Student of the Year

Directions WA ($550) - Regional Business Student of the Year

Hon. Brian Ellis MLC ($550) - Trainer of the Year 

Linley Valley Pork ($550) - Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Student of the Year

Northam Toyota ($550) – Apprentice of the Year

Shire of Northam ($1100) – Trainee of the Year, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Student of the 
Year

Valley Ford/Northam Hyundai ($550) - Regional Services and Lifestyle Student of the Year

Wheatbelt Nationals ($550) – Student of the Year
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CSu prizes for Agricultural Colleges

Charles Sturt University ($3,000)

Bachelor of Agricultural Business 
Management event Sponsorship

Hale night 20th April 
Craig Mostyn Group ($555)

Awards night 7th May 
Australia China Business Council ($1,000)
Bankwest ($500) 
Landmark ($1,000) 
PlanFarm ($500)

Miscellaneous donations
Second-hand ‘New Holland’ harvester – donated 
by WA College of Agriculture - Narrogin

$4,200 – donated by Epsom Farms - a 457 visa 
requirement  

Major publications in 2015
• 2016 Business plan

• C.Y. o’Connor Institute Strategic plan – 
2016-2018

• 2014 Annual Report

• Course Prospectus 

• Aged Care Pathway Employment Model

• Agri-Career Pathways Flyer

• C.Y. O’Connor Study Scholarship Fund

Bachelor of Agricultural Business 
Management Study Scholarships 

CBH Group Grains Industry Scholarship 
($5,000)

Collgar Wind Farm ($5,000)

Commonwealth Bank Regional & Agribusiness 
Banking Scholarship ($5,000)

The Country Women’s Association ($5,000)

Craig Mostyn Group Scholarship ($5,000)

Parliamentary members of the WA Liberal Party 
($5,000)

WA-based parliamentary members of the 
Federal Liberal Party ($3,500)

Muresk Residential Assistant Scholarship by 
C.Y O’Connor Institute ($5,000 x 2)

Rabobank Client Council Scholarship ($5,000)

RSM Bird Cameron Scholarship ($5,000)

Ruralco Holdings Limited ($5,000)

Summit Fertilizers ($5,000)

Westpac Scholarship for Women in Agriculture 
($5,000)

Bachelor of Agricultural Business 
Management Academic prizes 

Bankwest ($2,000)

Linley Valley Pork ($2,000)

Muresk Old Collegians Association ($500)
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Disability Access &  
Inclusion Plan OutcomesDisclosures & Compliance

outcome 1:
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the 
services of, and any events organised by,  
C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

• Continued to apply equal access and 
inclusion principles to services and events 
organised by the Institute, including provision 
of an accessible venue for key events such 
as the student graduation; and continuation 
of an Event Access Checklist.

• Targeted disability awareness training 
provided to Customer Service Officers, 
lecturers, in-class assistants and other staff 
through various professional development 
sessions, focusing on inclusion; accessible 
complaints; best education practice for 
students with autism; reasonable adjustment; 
and accommodation and assistive 
technologies training. 

• Provided on-campus mentoring sessions for 
students with disability who participate in 
on-line classes.

• The Institute offered students with intellectual 
disability participation in Certificate II in 
Leadership Development.  This course was 
tailored to meet the needs of these students, 
including students who did not have written 
language skills and students with different 
modes of communication.  The course made 
learning accessible to a group of people who 
would otherwise not be able to access 
education and training in a post-secondary 
environment.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is committed to 
providing an inclusive environment for people 
with disability through ongoing improvement to 
its information, services and facilities. 

It is a requirement of the Western Australian 
Disability Services Act 1993, that public 
authorities develop and implement a Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) that outlines 
the ways in which the authority will ensure 
that people with disabilities have equal access 
to its facilities and services. In July 2010, the 
Institute developed the Disability Access and 
Inclusion plan 2010-2014.  The new Disability 
Access and Inclusion plan 2015 – 2019 has 
been completed and approved.

The following presents the seven outcome 
statements in the Disability Access and 
Inclusion plan 2015-2019, together with some 
of the achievements in 2015 against each 
outcome area.
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• Self-opening door mechanism fitted to public 
accessible toilet in L Block at Northam 
campus.

• Review of evacuation procedures for people 
with disability.

• Personal Emergency Evacuation Plan 
template created to ensure people with 
disability are properly assisted during on 
campus emergencies.

outcome 3:
People with disability can access information 
from C.Y. O’Connor Institute as readily as other 
people are able to access it.

• Continued to develop and disseminate easy 
English material, focusing on first contact 
student brochures.

• Continued to provide information in clear, 
concise language and in alternative formats.

• Continued to ensure that support staff were 
available to assist students with additional 
needs.

• Ensured that learning resources were 
appropriate and accessible in a variety  
of formats to students with disability.

• Continued to review and research 
appropriate and necessary equipment  
and resources to promote accessibility  
and participation, for example, audio loops, 
personal receivers, Read/Write Gold, and 
Windows7 accessibility features.

• Accessibility checklist used to ensure the 
website complies with best practice 
accessibility guidelines.

• Mental health links and crisis phone numbers 
added to the C.Y. O’Connor website.

• Access and Inclusion survey distributed to 
students with disability attending campuses.  
Information was then disseminated to 
executive management, customer service 
and lecturers.

• Update and revision of brochure given to 
contractors regarding our DAIP, along with a 
recording template to assist them in meeting 
their reporting obligations.

• Accessible Events folder created on the 
Institute’s intranet for all staff to access.

• Universal Design folder created on the 
Institute’s intranet for all staff to access.

• Access and Equity brochure created for staff 
ensuring their understanding of services 
provided by the Access and Equity Office.  
This brochure is now part of the new staff 
orientation pack.

outcome 2:
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the 
buildings and other facilities of C.Y. O’Connor 
Institute.

• Access audits were conducted to ensure 
buildings and facilities are accessible.

• Ensured that premises and other 
infrastructure related to transport are 
accessible to people with a disability.

• The contractor brochure was disseminated to 
contractors to inform them about their 
responsibilities under the Institute’s Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan.

• Ensured feedback forms were available at all 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute events to enable 
participants to comment on accessibility and 
other issues.
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• Access & Equity Newsletter created 
quarterly, highlighting disability, access, 
inclusiveness, mental health, new technology 
and services available to people with 
disability, mental health issues, parents and 
carers. This is made available to all staff, 
students and visitors to the Institute.

outcome 5:
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

• Continued to develop and disseminate easy 
English material.

• Continued dissemination of the easy English 
guide to making a complaint/providing 
feedback.

• Access and Equity Officer actively assisted 
students with disability through the feedback 
process, including making resources 
available for people who had limited written 
language skills.

• Addressed all complaints and issues raised 
by students and parents.

• Access and Inclusion survey distributed to 
students with disability attending campuses.  
Information was then disseminated to 
executive management, customer service 
and lecturers.

• ‘Making Complaints Accessible’ PD provided 
at Campus Coordinator meeting.  This PD 
was made available on the intranet for all 
staff.

• Disseminated C.Y. O’Connor Student 
Satisfaction Surveys to students with 
disability in hard copy on campus and 
through email for external students.

• Recruitment of a diverse range of In-Class 
Assistants, who were supplied with 
appropriate induction, information and have 
the ability to access on-going support.

outcome 4:
People with disability receive the same level and 
quality of service from staff at C.Y. O’Connor 
Institute as other people receive.

• Provided accessible and inclusive teaching, 
learning and assessment strategies in all 
industry areas.

• Provided Professional Development and 
training in disability awareness for In-Class 
Assistants.

• Provided links to online cultural and diversity 
awareness training to all Institute staff.

• Ensured that contractors and agents are 
aware of their obligations and responsibilities 
to people with disability or medical 
conditions.

• Continued to provide reasonable adjustment 
to ensure that students with disability have 
similar access to learning as other students.

• Access and Equity folder on the intranet 
updated, including access to all PD sessions 
available to all staff, as well as up to date 
information on various disabilities, 
reasonable adjustment and accommodation 
advice, and teaching tips.

• Creation of ‘At your Fingertips, Disability 
Awareness for Lecturers’ booklet to be 
distributed to all C.Y. O’Connor Institute staff.
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• Policies are maintained and promoted, 
including the Institute’s Code of Conduct,  
and strategies that promote inclusion for 
employees with a disability through 
occupational safety and health education  
and other staff training programs.

• It is ensured that all stakeholders are able to 
access the full range of Institute resources, 
services and facilities.

• Recruitment policies, procedures, application 
packs, language and formats are inclusive of 
people with disabilities.

• Employees with disability are given support 
to undertake their role and actively 
participate in employee related activities and 
events including flexible employment 
practices adopted to support reasonable 
adjustments.

outcome 6:
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate  
in any public consultation carried out by  
C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

• Continued to hold Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan Steering Committee meetings 
to develop, implement, monitor and review 
the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan.

• Continued to develop linkages and create 
pathways into the community in order to seek 
a broad range of views and invite 
consultation.

• Ensured that all public consultations met 
minimum benchmarks for accessible 
consultation processes.

• Continued to seek a broad range of views 
from the community on disability and access 
issues through a variety of strategies.

• Access and Inclusion survey distributed to 
students with disability attending campuses.  
Information was then disseminated to 
executive management, customer service 
and lecturers.

outcome 7:
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people regarding 
employment practices (recruitment and 
retention) at C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

• The Institute is committed to being an equal 
opportunity employer and abides by all 
relevant legislation including section 145 of 
the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 through the 
preparation and implementation of an 
approved Equal Employment Opportunity 
(EEO) Management Plan and annual 
reporting of EEO data.

Disability Access &  
Inclusion Plan Outcomes
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objective 1:
Customise training and educational pathways to 
support Aboriginal students.

Pathways and programs have been selected 
to ensure increased participation, retention 
and completion rates for Aboriginal students.  
Foundation courses such as the Certificate II 
in Leadership have been implemented in 2015 
to assist in this area, with programs being 
developed in a culturally sensitive manner 
to foster the best educational outcomes for 
Aboriginal students. 

objective 2:
Increase the number of Aboriginal students 
enrolled in training and educational pathways.

A number of courses were completed in 2015, 
demonstrated by the following examples:

• The Institute conducted a Certificate II in 
Leadership program in 2015 that attracted six 
enrolments.

• A community arts program (utilising CGEA 
units) was run in Kellerberrin in which 
fourteen Aboriginal students enrolled.

• A Certificate II Hairdressing course was 
conducted for young Aboriginal women.

• A Certificate I in Leadership Development 
was conducted at Moora in which eight 
Aboriginal school-based trainees enrolled.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is committed to 
improving training opportunities and 
employment outcomes for Aboriginal people  
in the Wheatbelt region.

A priority in 2015 has been a focus on 
increasing the level of consultation and 
discussion with the Aboriginal community 
regarding the identification of appropriate 
training and education programs in order to gain 
practical, employment-related skills as well as 
assist in raising feelings of self-worth within the 
community.

Aboriginal Skills  
Development Plan OutcomesDisclosures & Compliance
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objective 3:
Increase and maintain participation and 
completion rates of Aboriginal students.

The Institute’s Aboriginal Student Services 
Coordinator, Aboriginal Development Officer and 
Aboriginal Program Assistants provided  in-class 
support where needed, as well as attending 
student visits with the lecturer, to offer support.

The Aboriginal Student Support Services 
brochure was updated in 2015.  This brochure 
outlines the number of support staff and 
services available to Aboriginal students.

Aboriginal staff in Narrogin have been providing 
support to a number of students in the 
Education Support and Retail programs with 
respect to language, literacy and numeracy 
issues within their courses.

objective 4:
Support Aboriginal people into employment by 
strengthening relationships with industry and 
community based providers.

Partnerships have been maintained with a 
number of agencies in the Wheatbelt such 
as Directions, Avon Youth, Northam PCYC, 
KEEDAC, Aboriginal Health, Public Health, 
Max Employment, Northam Senior High 
School, Clontarf Academy, and the Wirrapunda 
Foundation Deadly Sister Girls Academy.  
These agencies have provided essential support 
to improve the outcomes of Aboriginal students 
when accessing education and training at  
C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

objective 5:
Develop Institute staff so that they are culturally 
competent.

During 2015, cultural awareness training was 
provided to staff and students to enhance 
their awareness of Aboriginal culture and 
expectations.

Further, NAIDOC celebrations were held at  
each campus during the year.

Aboriginal Skills  
Development Plan Outcomes
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Human Resources policies and procedures 
are regularly reviewed and updated to ensure 
compliance with Public Sector Standards.

During 2015, there were no breaches against 
any of the Standards.

In accordance with the Corruption and Crime 
Commission Amendment (Misconduct) Act 
2014 (CCM Act) no suspected acts of minor or 
serious misconduct occurred within the Institute 
for referral to the Public Sector Commission or 
Corruption and Crime Commission.

Accountable and ethical decision 
making framework (AeDM)
In accordance with Commissioner’s Instruction 
Number 8 - Codes of conduct and integrity 
training, the Institute has implemented the 
Accountable and Ethical Decision Making 
Framework (AEDM).  The purpose of the AEDM 
framework is to complement the Institute’s Code 
of Conduct and Public Sector Code of Ethics by 
providing staff with the knowledge required to 
comply with expected standards of conduct and 
integrity.

The program comprises seven interactive self-
paced units of study, delivered through an online 
learning platform to all staff.  To date, 87 per 
cent of staff have successfully completed all 
units.

Compliance with public sector 
standards and ethical codes
As required under Section 31 of the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994, C.Y. O’Connor 
Institute has complied with the Commissioner’s 
Instructions, including Public Sector Standards 
in Human Resource Management, approved 
procedures and Administrative Instructions 
(where applicable), as well as with the Western 
Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and the 
Institute’s Code of Conduct.

All staff have access to HR policies and 
procedures including policies that relate 
to recruitment, selection and appointment, 
transfer, secondment, temporary deployment 
and grievance resolution through the Institute’s 
intranet and via email communication from the 
Human Resources section.

The Institute ensures compliance with Public 
Sector Standards through: 

• providing information about the standards in 
relevant human resource management 
policies and resources; 

• providing an advisory and consultancy 
service to staff on standards-related matters; 

• including information about the Public Sector 
Commission’s Code of Ethics and the 
Institute’s Code of Conduct in the staff 
induction program; and

• requiring all new staff to complete training in 
accountable and ethical decision making.

Standards & EthicsDisclosures & Compliance
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C.Y. O’Connor Institute is committed to 
achieving a workplace with zero injuries by 
providing and maintaining a healthy and safe 
working environment for all staff, students 
and visitors.  In fulfilling its objectives, the 
Executive is committed to regular consultation 
with staff to ensure that policies and processes 
operate effectively.  The Institute has 
developed an Occupational Safety and Health 
(OSH) Management Plan for the continued 
development and investment in Institute OSH 
practices and processes, with the goal of 
achieving WorkSafe Plan Silver status by the 
end of 2016.

The Institute’s occupational safety and health 
management system is well documented 
and has a verifiable set of plans, actions and 
procedures that can assist both managers and 
employees to clearly identify their occupational 
safety and health responsibilities and manage 
them in an organised manner.  The Institute 
undertook an internal assessment of its OSH 
management systems in 2015 against the 
WorkSafe Plan standard, and progress is 
underway to achieve the agreed outcomes 
through the occupational Safety and Health 
(oSH) Management plan.

The Institute has a well-established 
Occupational Safety and Health Committee.  
This Committee is the key conduit for 
consultation and communication of information 
with staff, having representation from staff 
and management from across all campuses 
within the Institute.  The Committee members’ 
appointment, location and contact details are 
communicated to all staff.  The OSH Committee 
meets monthly to discuss and resolve OSH 
issues; review hazards and incident reports; and 
review progress against the OSH Management 
Plan.

Occupational Safety,  
Health & Injury ManagementDisclosures & Compliance

C.Y. O’Connor Institute provides injury 
management and rehabilitation support to all 
workers who sustain a work-related injury or 
illness, with a focus on safety and early return 
to work through compliance with the Workers 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 
1981.

The Institute is committed to continuous review 
and improvement of workplace safety and 
health. 

Significant occupational safety and health 
initiatives undertaken in 2015 include: 

• continued mapping and gap analysis of the 
Institute’s OSH safety systems against the 
WorkSafe Plan;

• ongoing development of OSH information, 
policies, plans and guidelines; and

• the development of an OSH website on  
the Institute’s intranet that provides a single 
centralised repository of OSH information for 
staff.

Workers’ Compensation  
During 2015, there were two workers’ 
compensation claims lodged, both of which 
were accepted by RiskCover.  
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performance Against oSH targets

Measure
Actual Results(1) Results Against Target
2012/13 2014/15 Target Comment on Results

Number of fatalities 0% 0% 0% Target met
Lost time injury and/or disease 
incidence rate

0.81% 1.81% 10% Reduction LTI claims increased 
from 1 to 2 and FTE 
reduced

Lost time injury and/or disease 
severity rate

100% 0% 0  or 10% 
Reduction

Target met

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work:
Within 13 weeks 100% 100% Greater than or 

equal to 80%
Target met

Within 26 weeks N/A N/A Greater than or 
equal to 80%

Target met

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and 
injury management responsibilities

78.6% 75% Greater than or 
equal to 80%

Reduction resulted 
from staff turnover

notes: 
(1) Actual Results entered are based on the financial year ending 30 June 2015.

The Institute has successfully integrated risk management principles into the consideration 
of decisions by the Executive Management Team.  A risk management framework has been 
established to ensure compliance with Treasury Instruction 825, consistent with AS/NZS ISO 
31000:2009.

During 2015, a review was conducted of the Strategic Risk Register for the Institute.  This register 
identifies the key risks facing the Institute and the controls put in place to minimise their impact on 
operations.

The Performance Monitoring and Audit Committee, a sub-committee of Governing Council, was 
re-titled in 2014 as the Performance Monitoring, Audit and Risk Committee of Governing Council to 
reflect the increased emphasis that the Governing Council requires on the management of risk into 
the future.  This committee met four times during 2015.

Risk ManagementDisclosures & Compliance

Occupational Safety,  
Health & Injury Management



C.Y. O’Connor Institute

F I n A n C I A l  S tAt e M e n t S 
For year ended 31 December 2015

http://www.cyoc.wa.edu.au


C.Y. O’Connor Institute Financial Statements year ended 31 December 2015 | 78

CertificationFinancial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of C.Y. O’Connor Institute have been prepared in 
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and 
records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending 31 December 2015 
and the financial position as at 31 December 2015.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars 
included in the Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate.

Bryant Stokes AM

Chair, Governing Council

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
11 March, 2016

John Scott

Managing Director

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
11 March, 2016

Neil McAullay

Chief Finance Officer

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
11 March, 2016
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Independent Audit Opinion
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C.Y. O’Connor Institute

StAteMent oF CoMpReHenSIVe InCoMe
FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 2015 2015 2014

notes  $  $ 
CoSt oF SeRVICeS
expenses
Employee benefits expense 6  11,775,418  11,805,554 
Supplies and services 7  3,842,823  3,815,503 
Depreciation 8  532,586  561,693 
Cost of sales 13  139,420  139,048 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 16  2,172  -   
Other expenses 9  1,204,952  797,254 
total cost of services  17,497,371  17,119,052 

Income
Revenue
Fee for service 10  289,775  319,853 
Student fees and charges 11  1,884,865  1,475,035 
Ancillary trading 12  16,363  17,844 
Sales 13  179,075  165,502 
Interest revenue 14  89,415  93,955 
Other revenue 15  512,805  421,919 
Total revenue  2,972,298  2,494,108 

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 16  -    2,509 
Total gains  -    2,509 

total income other than income from State Government  2,972,298  2,496,617 

net CoSt oF SeRVICeS  14,525,073  14,622,435 

InCoMe FRoM StAte GoVeRnMent 17

Service appropriation  12,984,317  13,831,919 
Services received free of charge  657,691  506,444 
Other income from State Government  216,237  -   
total income from State Government  13,858,245  14,338,363 

DeFICIt FoR tHe peRIoD  (666,828)  (284,072)

otHeR CoMpReHenSIVe InCoMe

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 28  791,250  358,450 
total other comprehensive income  791,250  358,450 

totAl CoMpReHenSIVe InCoMe FoR tHe peRIoD 124,422 74,378

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C.Y. O’Connor Institute

StAteMent oF FInAnCIAl poSItIon 
AS At 31 DeCeMBeR 2015 2015 2014

notes  $  $ 

ASSetS

Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 29  2,435,212  2,707,065 
Inventories 19  81,709  73,105 
Receivables 20  205,350  214,104 
Other current assets 21  212,893  259,971 
total Current Assets  2,935,164  3,254,245 

non-Current Assets 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18, 29  48,361  -   
Property, plant and equipment 22  17,076,725  16,910,516 
total non-Current Assets  17,125,086  16,910,516 

totAl ASSetS  20,060,250  20,164,761 

lIABIlItIeS
Current liabilities
Payables 25  155,211  425,633 
Provisions 26  1,866,082  1,429,256 
Other current liabilities 27  855,241  573,993 
total Current liabilities  2,876,534  2,428,882 

non-Current liabilities
Provisions 26  809,132  1,377,739 
total non-Current liabilities  809,132  1,377,739 

totAl lIABIlItIeS  3,685,666  3,806,621 

net ASSetS  16,374,584  16,358,140 

eQuItY 28

Contributed equity  2,883,652  2,991,630 
Reserves  9,749,282  8,958,032 
Accumulated surplus  3,741,650  4,408,478 

totAl  eQuItY  16,374,584  16,358,140 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



C.Y. O’Connor Institute Financial Statements year ended 31 December 2015 | 84

Cash FlowFinancial Statements

C.Y. O’Connor Institute

StAteMent oF CASH FloWS 
FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 2015 2015 2014

notes  $  $ 
CASH FloWS FRoM StAte GoVeRnMent
Service appropriation - Department of Training and Workforce Development  13,825,768  14,082,066 
Voluntary Severance Scheme - Department of Training and Workforce Development  216,237  -   
Royalties for Regions Fund  -    43,152 
net cash provided by State Government  14,042,005  14,125,218 

utilised as follows:
CASH FloWS FRoM opeRAtInG ACtIVItIeS
payments
Employee benefits  (12,059,997)  (12,298,577)
Supplies and services  (3,335,653)  (3,469,275)
Commonwealth grants and contributions  (530,619)  -   
GST payments on purchases  (346,396)  (354,955)
GST payments to taxation authority  (72,675)  (29,410)
Other payments  (1,219,582)  (862,682)

Receipts
Fee for service  363,892  222,611 
Student fees and charges   1,796,448  1,468,678 
Ancillary trading  16,363  17,844 
Commonwealth grants and contributions  -    530,619 
Interest received  90,885  92,590 
GST receipts on sales  169,028  150,458 
GST receipts from taxation authority  188,626  194,402 
Other receipts  691,880  587,421 
net cash used in operating activities 29  (14,247,801)  (13,750,276)

CASH FloWS FRoM InVeStInG ACtIVItIeS
payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets  (20,413)  (86,426)
Purchase of Investment in Term Deposit  -    (40,000)
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  2,717  3,528 
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (17,696)  (122,898)

net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (223,492)  252,044 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  2,707,065 2,455,021

CASH AnD CASH eQuIVAlentS At tHe enD oF peRIoD 29  2,483,573  2,707,065 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C.Y. O’Connor Institute

StAteMent oF CHAnGeS In eQuItY 
FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 2015

Contributed
equity Reserves

Accumulated 
Surplus / 
(Deficit) total equity

notes $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 January 2014 28  2,927,100  8,599,582  4,692,550  16,219,232 

Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior 
period errors  -    -    -    -   

Restated balance at 1 January 2014  2,927,100  8,599,582  4,692,550  16,219,232 

  Surplus/(deficit)  -    -    (284,072)  (284,072)
  Other comprehensive income  -    358,450  -    358,450 
total comprehensive income for the period  -    358,450  (284,072)  74,378 

transaction with owners in their capacity as owners 
:
  Other contributions by owners  64,530  -    -    64,530 

total  64,530  -    -    64,530 

Balance at 31 December 2014  2,991,630  8,958,032  4,408,478  16,358,140 

Balance at 1 January 2015  2,991,630  8,958,032  4,408,478  16,358,140 

  Surplus/(deficit)  (666,828)  (666,828)
  Other comprehensive income  -    791,250  -    791,250 
total comprehensive income for the period  -    791,250  (666,828)  124,422 

transaction with owners in their capacity as 
owners:
  Distribution to Owners  (107,978)  -    -    (107,978)

  Other contributions by owners  -    -    -    -   

total  (107,978)  -    -    (107,978)

Balance at 31 December 2015  2,883,652  9,749,282  3,741,650  16,374,584 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015Financial Statements

1. Australian Accounting Standards

a. General 
The Institute’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Institute has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative 
dates.

b. early adoption of standards
The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s 
Instruction (TI) 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. Partial 
exemption permitting early adoption of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair 
Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities has been granted. Aside from AASB 2015-7, there 
has been no early adoption of any other Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended 
(but not operative) by the Institute for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2015.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. Unless 
otherwise stated, these policies are consistent with those adopted in the previous year.

a. General statement
The Institute is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these 
are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern 
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, 
details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

b. Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention, except for land and buildings which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($). 

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have 
been made in the process of applying the Institute’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect 
on amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material  adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

c. Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Institute and bodies included at note 37 ‘Related bodies’.
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d. Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions  by owners (at the time of, 
or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations 
have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned 
Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal. See note 28 ‘Equity’.

e. Income
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

The majority of operating revenue of the Institute represents revenue earned from student fees and charges, 
fee for service, ancillary services, trading activities and Commonwealth grants and contributions.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Institute obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated.

Service appropriations 

Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Institute gains 
control of the appropriated funds The Institute gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are 
deposited to the bank account. 

State funds

The funds received from the Department of Training and Workforce Development in respect of the delivery 
of services forming part of the Delivery Performance Agreement are included in State funds, disclosed under 
‘Income from State Government’. They are the result of training successfully tendered for under competitive 
tendering arrangements. This revenue is recognised at nominal value in the period in which the Institute meets 
the terms of the Agreement. See note 17 ‘Income from State Government’.

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising on the 
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
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f. property, plant and equipment 
Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Where applicable in accordance with TI 1101, 
the capitalisation threshold has been applied to the aggregate value of a group or network of assets where the 
cost of individual item may be below the threshold but collectively the cost of the items in the group or network 
exceeds the threshold. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately 
expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of 
similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at 
the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and 
buildings and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair 
value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses.  All other items of 
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 
current market values determined by reference to recent market transactions.  When buildings are revalued by 
reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 
existing use.  This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted.  Fair value 
for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is 
determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated 
depreciation are restated proportionately. . Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison 
with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of 
comparable unrestricted land. (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially 
from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to 
apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life.  Professional judgement by 
the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and 
existing use assets. Refer to note 22 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on revaluations.

Derecognition

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to 
that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current 
assets on a class of assets basis as described in note 22 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method using rates which are reviewed annually.  Estimated 
useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 40 years

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 4 to 23 years

Plant, furniture and general equipment 4 to 28 years

Computing, communications and software (a) 2 to 15 years

Marine craft 10 years

 (a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

Works of art controlled by the Institute are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated 
to have indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during 
the reporting period and so no depreciation has been recognised. 

Land is not depreciated.  

g. Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  Where an asset measured at cost is 
written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  Where a previously 
revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in 
other comprehensive income.  As the Institute is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been 
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.  Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects 
the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk 
from falling replacement costs. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at 
fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at 
risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications 
of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

See note 24 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.  See note 2(m) 
‘Receivables’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.

h. leases
The Institute has entered into operating lease arrangements for building premises and motor vehicles.  Lease 
payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits 
derived from the leased building premises and motor vehicles. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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i. Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Institute has two categories of financial instruments:

• Receivables; and

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

These have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial assets

• Cash and cash equivalents

• Receivables

• Other current assets

Financial liabilities

• Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the 
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there 
is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not 
material.

j. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash 
equivalent) comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes 
in value. 

k. Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 25 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the 
financial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Institute considers 
the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 18 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of 
amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of ten financial years to largely meet the 
additional cash outlay in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is 
received on this account.

l. Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned by the method 
most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being measured on a first in first out 
basis. 

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are 
measured at net realisable value. See note 19 ‘Inventories’.

m. Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. 
impairment).  The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as 
uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful 
debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Institute will not be able to collect the debts. The 
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carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  See note 2(i) ‘Financial 
instruments’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.

n. payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Institute becomes obliged to make future payments 
as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement 
is generally within 30 days.  See note 2(i) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 25 ‘Payables’.

o. provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. See note 26 ‘Provisions’. 

(i) Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of 
the reporting period.

Annual leave

Annual leave that is expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is 
considered to be a ‘short term employee benefit’.  The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at 
the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Annual leave that is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’.  The annual leave liability 
is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Institute does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service.  The expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Institute does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.  Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 
because the Institute has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service.

Deferred Leave

The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement 
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to self-fund an additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises 
the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the 
same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the 
scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave

The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement 
to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of 
salary set aside for employees and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility 
criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement 
and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new 
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum 
scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension 
Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). 
Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super 
Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees 
have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Institute makes contributions to 
GESB or other funds providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s 
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions to these accumulation schemes 
extinguish the Institute’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members 
of the Pension Scheme or GSS. 

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  
However, it is a defined contribution plan for Institute purposes because the concurrent contributions 
(defined contributions) made by the Institute to GESB extinguishes the Institute’s obligations to the related 
superannuation liability.

The Institute has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded 
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from 
the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent 
contributions made by the Institute to the GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from 
the Treasurer for the employer’s share. See also note 2(p) ‘Superannuation expense’.

(ii) provisions - other
Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  
Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Institute’s 
‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. (See note 
9 ‘Other expenses’ and note 26 ‘Provisions’.)

p. Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions 
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), the GESB Super 
Scheme (GESBS) and other superannuation funds. 
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q. Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Institute would otherwise purchase if 
not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably 
measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received.  Receipts of assets are recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income 
from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

r. Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the 
current financial year.

3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of 
accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  The 
Institute evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating Lease Commitments

The Institute has entered into a commercial lease and has determined that the lessor retains substantially 
all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property. Accordingly, the lease has been 
classified as an operating lease. 

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other 
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

Long Service Leave

Several estimations and assumptions in calculating the Institute’s long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments.  
Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service 
leave provision.

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Institute has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective or adopted, for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 that impacted on the Institute.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting 

This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the general 
purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the General 
Government Sector. The Institute is required to disclose additional 
budgetary information and explanations of major variances between 
actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.
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AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual 
Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments 

Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 
2017.  The application date of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 
January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The Institute has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part A changes consist primarily of clarifications to Accounting Standards 
and have no financial impact for the Institute. Part B has no financial 
impact as the Institute contributes to schemes that are either defined 
contribution plans, or deemed to be defined contribution plans. Part C 
has no financial impact as the Standard removes references to AASB 
1031 Materiality from a number of Accounting Standards.

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2014) – Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 
9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
(December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), 
arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 
2014. The Institute is not currently permitted to early adopt the resultant 
financial instrument standard and has not yet determined the financial 
impact of the Standard.

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value 
Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 13]

This Standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the 
reporting burden associated with various disclosures required by AASB 
13 for assets within the scope of AASB 116 that are held primarily for 
their current service potential rather than to generate future net cash 
inflows. It has no financial impact.

AASB 2013-1 Amendments to AASB 1049 – Relocation of Budgetary Reporting 
Requirements

AASB  2014-2 Amendments to AASB 1053 – Transition to and between Tiers, and 
related Tier 2 Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1053]
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  Consequently, the Institute has 
not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact 
the Institute.  Where applicable, the Institute plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their 
application date.

Operative 
for reporting 
periods 
beginning on/
after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is 
currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by 
AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9, and, AASB 2014-1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards.  
The Institute has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard establishes the principles that the 
Institute shall apply to report useful information 
to users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash 
flows arising from a contract with a customer.  The 
Institute has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018
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AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 
4,5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 
12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments 
to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010.  The mandatory application date of 
this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 
and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018.  The Institute 
has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 
and consequential amendments to other Standards.  It 
has not yet been assessed to determine the application 
or potential impact.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

The Institute establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of 
its objectives and does not routinely acquire interests 
in Joint Operations.  Therefore, there is no financial 
impact on application of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138].

The adoption of the new Standard has no financial 
impact for the Institute as depreciation and amortisation 
is not determined by reference to revenue generation, 
but by reference to consumption of future economic 
benefits.

1 Jan 2016
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AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 15.

This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance 
of AASB 15. The Institute has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014).

This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of 
AASB 9 (December 2014). The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 
[AASB 1, 127 & 128].

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially 
amends AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow entities to 
use the equity method of accounting for investments 
in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their 
separate financial statements. The Institute has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128].

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to 
address an inconsistency between the requirements 
in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), in 
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between 
an investor and its associate or joint venture.  The 
Institute has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016
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AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting 
Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 
110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140].

These amendments arise from the issuance of 
International Financial Reporting Standard Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in 
September 2014, and editorial corrections. The 
Institute has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

 AASB 2015 -2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 
7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide 
clarification regarding the disclosure requirements 
in AASB 101.  Specifically, the Standard proposes 
narrow-focus amendments to address some of the 
concerns expressed about existing presentation and 
disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are 
able to use judgement when applying a Standard 
in determining what information to disclose in their 
financial statements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015- 3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality.

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references 
to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to 
effectively be withdrawn.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2015

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049].

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 
to include application by not-for-profit public sector 
entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist 
application of the Standard by not-for-profit public 
sector entities.  The Institute will be required to make 
related party disclosures, though there is no financial 
impact.

1 Jul 2016

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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 2015  2014 

6 Employee benefits expense  $  $ 

 Wages and salaries (a)  10,555,607  10,803,131 

 Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)  1,063,436  1,002,423 

 Voluntary separation scheme  156,375  -   

 11,775,418  11,805,554 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits  
tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESBS and other 
eligible funds.  

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers' compensation insurance, are 
included at note 9 'Other expenses'. 

Employment on-costs liability is included at note 26 'Provisions'.

 2015  2014 

7  Supplies and services  $  $ 

 Consumables and minor equipment  503,448  555,752 

 Communication expenses  131,021  135,262 

 Utilities expenses  206,893  212,164 

 Consultancies and contracted services  1,306,049  1,156,039 

 Minor works  413,350  523,089 

 Repairs and maintenance  80,726  132,862 

 Operating lease and hire charges  493,463  421,831 

 Travel and passenger transport  214,985  234,768 

 Advertising and public relations  231,061  192,638 

 Supplies and services - other  261,827  251,098 

 3,842,823  3,815,503 

 2015  2014 

8  Depreciation   $  $ 

 Buildings  402,447  396,811 

 Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  44,281  61,265 

 Plant, furniture and general equipment  62,647  64,656 

 Computers and communication network  19,559  35,309 

 Marine craft  3,652  3,652 

 total depreciation   532,586  561,693 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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 2015  2014 

9  other expenses  $  $ 

Employment on-costs (a)  1,108,228  678,502 

Donations  1,500  200 

Student prizes and awards  16,886  15,323 

Losses and write-offs  2,586  6,211 

Other (b)  75,752  97,018 

 1,204,952  797,254 

(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  
The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service 
leave liability is included in note 26 ‘Provisions’.  Superannuation benefits and are 
not included in employment on- costs. Contributions as part of the provision of 
leave are employee

(b) Includes doubtful debts expense, external audit fees plus other miscellaneous 
expenditure. See also note 36 'Remuneration of auditor.

 2015  2014 

10  Fee for service  $  $ 

 Fee for service - General  272,327  251,910 

 Fee for service - Industry specific training  -    9,222 

 International division fees  16,368  49,704 

 Fee for service - other  1,080  9,017 

 289,775  319,853 

 2015  2014 

11  Student fees and charges  $  $ 

 Tuition fees  1,074,136  780,197 

 Resource fees  331,327  397,231 

 Higher education fees  315,895  232,425 

 Other Institute fees  99,613  13,784 

 Student Fees - RPL Fees & RPL Reversals  63,894  51,398 

 1,884,865  1,475,035 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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 2015  2014 

12  Ancillary trading  $  $ 

 Other ancillary revenue  16,363  17,844 

 16,363  17,844 

 2015  2014 

13 Trading profit/(loss)  $  $ 

(a) Bookshop

Sales  113,105  101,425 

  Cost of sales:

  Opening inventory  (73,105)  (82,513)

  Purchases  (105,581)  (92,562)

 (178,686)  (175,075)

  Closing inventory  81,709  73,105 

Cost of goods sold  (96,977)  (101,970)

Trading profit/(loss) - Bookshop  16,128  (545)

(b) Cafeteria (non-training related)

Sales  63,939  56,320 

  Cost of sales:

  Opening inventory  -    -   

  Purchases  (42,443)  (37,078)

 (42,443)  (37,078)

  Closing inventory  -    -   

Cost of goods sold  (42,443)  (37,078)

Trading profit/(loss) - Cafeteria  21,496  19,242 

(d) Other trading

Sales  2,031  7,757 

Trading profit/(loss) - Other trading  2,031  7,757 

Total Trading Profit/(loss)  39,655  26,454 

See note 2(l) 'Inventories' and note 19 'Inventories'.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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 2015  2014 

14 Interest revenue  $  $ 

Interest revenue from operating accounts  89,415  93,955 

 89,415  93,955 

 2015  2014 

15 other revenue  $  $ 

Rental and facilities fees  11,953  28,462 

Insurance Recoveries  25,548  21,502 

Sponsorship and donations revenue  33,552  84,823 

Special purpose grants  381,408  244,333 

Miscellaneous revenue  60,344  42,799 

 512,805  421,919 

 2015  2014 

16 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets  $  $ 

Net Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

Computers and communication network  2,717  3,528 

Total proceeds from disposal of non-current assets  2,717  3,528 

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed

Plant, furniture and general equipment  (4,890)  (1,019)

Total cost of disposal of non-current assets  (4,890)  (1,019)

Net gain/(loss)  (2,172)  2,509 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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 2015  2014 

17 Income from State Government  $  $ 

Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriation (State funds received from Department of Training and 
Workforce Development) (a):

Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA)  12,173,275  12,900,510 

Other recurrent funds  811,041  931,409 

Total State funds  12,984,317  13,831,919 

Services received free of charge from other State government agencies during the 
financial period (b):

Department of Training and Workforce Development

- Corporate systems support  340,237  375,653 

- Marketing and publications  11,924  12,139 

- Human resources, and industrial relations support  213,103  27,819 

- Asbestos remediation  -    43,260 

   - Other  92,426  47,573 

Total Services Received Free of Charge  657,691  506,444 

Other income from State Government

      - Voluntary Separation Scheme  216,237  -   

 216,237  -   

total income from State Government  13,858,245  14,338,363 

(a)  Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation 
revenue is comprised of cash component. 

      

(b) Services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as 
revenues at the fair value of assets and/or the fair value of those services that 
can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were 
not donated.  Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by 
owners are recognised directly to equity. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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 2015  2014 

18 Restricted cash and cash equivalents  $  $ 

Non-Current

Future commitments to the 27th payroll payable in 2026  48,361  -   

 48,361  -   

 2015  2014 

19 Inventories  $  $ 

Current 

Inventories held for resale:

Bookshop (at cost)  81,709  73,105 

total  81,709  73,105 

See also note 2(l) 'Inventories' and note 13 'Trading profit/(loss)'.

 2015  2014 

20 Receivables  $  $ 

Current

Receivables - trade  96,314  178,505 

Receivables - students  19,759  10,785 

Receivables - other VET FEE-HELP recoverable  55,356  -   

Accrued revenue  5,304  6,774 

Allowance for impairment of receivables  (7,917)  (6,994)
GST receivable (a)  36,534  25,034 

total current  205,350  214,104 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:

Balance at start of  period  (6,994)  (11,186)

Doubtful debts expense  (3,500)  (439)

Amount written off during the period  2,577  4,631 

Balance at end of  period  (7,917)  (6,994)

(a)  Net of GST payable
The Institute does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security 
for receivables.

See also note 2(m) 'Receivables' and note 34 'Financial instruments'. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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 2015  2014 

21 other assets  $  $ 

Current

Prepayments  172,893  219,971 

Cash investments (a)  40,000  40,000 

total current  212,893  259,971 

(a) Short term cash deposit held at Bank with a maturity of greater than 6 months 
but less that 12 months 

 2015  2014 

22 property, plant and equipment  $  $ 

Land

At fair value (a)  390,000  418,800 

 390,000  418,800 

Buildings

At fair value (a)  16,474,625  16,165,000 

Accumulated depreciation  -    -   

 16,474,625  16,165,000 

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 

At cost  651,508  631,095 

Accumulated depreciation  (592,395)  (548,114)

 59,113  82,981 

Plant,  furniture and general equipment

At cost  1,211,354  1,226,446 

Accumulated depreciation  (1,075,877)  (1,023,431)

 135,478  203,015 

Computer equipment, communication network

At cost  246,753  260,725 

Accumulated depreciation  (234,667)  (229,080)

 12,086  31,645 

Marine craft

At cost  36,522  36,522 

Accumulated depreciation  (31,099)  (27,447)

 5,423  9,075 

 17,076,725  16,910,516 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2015 by the Western Australian 
Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).  The valuations were performed 
during the year ended 31 December 2015 and recognised at 31 December 2015.  
In undertaking the revaluation, fair value  was determined by reference to current 
use values for land: $390,000 (2014: $418,800) and depreciated replacement cost 
for buildings: $16,474,625 (2014: $16,165,000).  See note 2(f) ‘Property, plant and 
equipment’.

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 23.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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23 Fair value measurements

 Fair Value 

Assets measured at fair value : level 1  level 2 level 3  At end of 
period 

2015  $  $  $  $ 

Land (Note 22) -   -    390,000  390,000 

Buildings (Note 22) -   -    16,474,625  16,474,625 

-   -    16,864,625  16,864,625 

 Fair Value 

Assets measured at fair value : level 1  level 2 level 3  At end of 
period 

2014  $  $  $  $ 

Land (Note 22)  -    -    418,800  418,800 

Buildings (Note 22)  -    -    16,165,000  16,165,000 

 -    -    16,583,800  16,583,800 

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

land  Buildings 

2015 $  $ 

Fair Value at start of period  418,800  16,165,000 

Additions  -    -   

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income  (20,000)  811,250 

Disposals  (8,800)  (99,178)

Depreciation Expense  -    (402,447)

Fair Value at end of period  390,000  16,474,625 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss under ‘Other Gains’  -    -   

land Buildings

2014 $ $

Fair Value at start of period  378,800  15,838,000 

Additions  -    405,360 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income  40,000  318,450 

Depreciation Expense  -    (396,810)

Fair Value at end of period  418,800  16,165,000 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss under ‘Other Gains’  -    -   



C.Y. O’Connor Institute Financial Statements year ended 31 December 2015 | 109

Valuation processes

There was no change in valuation technique during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused 
the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s 
instructions require valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations utilise significant 
Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Land (level 3 fair values)
Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted 
use land). The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology. 
The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with 
higher estimated fair values of land.

 
Buildings (level 3 fair values) 
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current 
replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already 
consumed economic benefit, expired economic benefit or obsolescence of the asset and optimisation (where applicable) of 
the asset. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost of a 
substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Valuation using depreciated replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence 
of asset which is estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The fair value mea-
surement is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating with lower 
estimated fair values of buildings.

Basis of Valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence due to the specialised nature of the assets, some non-financial assets are valued 
at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations 
have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions 
are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements 

Description 
$

Fair value as at  
31 December 2015

Fair value as at  
31 December 2014 Valuation technique unobservable Inputs

Land  390,000  418,800 Current Use Selection of land with 
similar approximate 

utility 

Buildings  16,474,625  16,165,000 Depreciated  
Replacement

Historical cost of 
building per square 

metre floor area (m2) 

       

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Note 22.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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24 Impairment of assets

There was no indication of impairment to property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2015.

The Institute held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the 
reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets as at 31 December 2015 have been classified as assets held for sale, disposed, or written off.

  2015  2014 

25 payables  $  $ 

Current 

Trade payables  4,884  8,013 

Accrued expenses  148,874  263,368 

Accrued salaries and related costs  1,453  154,252 

total current  155,211  425,633 

See also note 2(n) ‘Payables’ and note 34  ‘Financial Instruments’.

 2015  2014 

26 provisions  $  $ 

Current

Employee benefits provision

  Annual leave (a)  789,107  775,772 

  Long service leave (b)  907,341  523,547 

  Deferred Salary Scheme ( c)  70,482  54,682 

 1,766,930  1,354,001 

Other provisions

  Employment on-costs (d)  99,152  75,255 

 99,152  75,255 

total current  1,866,082  1,429,256 

Non-current

Employee benefits provision

  Long service leave (b)  764,452  1,302,311 

Other provisions

  Employment on-costs (d)  44,680  75,428 

 44,680  75,428 

total non-current  809,132  1,377,739 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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2015 2014

$ $
(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is 
expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  478,791  494,635 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  310,316  281,137 

 789,107  775,772 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is 
expected to occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  700,935  523,547 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  970,858  1,302,311 

 1,671,793  1,825,858 

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is 
no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  70,482  54,682 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  -    -   

 70,482  54,682 

(d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the 
payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. 
The provision is the present value of expected future payments.  The associated 
expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in 
note 9 ‘Other expenses’. 

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than 
employee benefits, are set out below.

employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period  150,683  152,706 

Additional provisions recognised  (6,851)  (2,023)

Carrying amount at end of period  143,832  150,683 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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 2015  2014

27 other liabilities  $  $ 

Current 

Income received in advance (a)  13,790  573,993 

DPA refund owed to the  Department of Training and Workforce Development  841,451  -   

total current  855,241  573,993 

(a) Income received in advance comprises:

        VET Fee - HELP  -    530,619 

FFS fees in advance  -    8,074 

Department of Corrective Services  13,790  35,300 

 13,790  573,993 

 2015  2014 

28 equity  $  $ 

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Institute on 
behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets 
of the Institute. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity 
resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity

Other contributions by owners

Balance at start of period  2,991,630  2,927,100 

Distribution to owners
Net assets transferred to Government - Transfer of Kellerberrin Campus to 
Department of Lands for sale  (107,978)  -   

Total distribution to owners

Contribution by owners

Transfer of net assets from DTWD (a)

Transfer of net assets from Other Agencies (a)  -    21,378 

Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account  -    43,152 

total contributions by owners  -    64,530 

Balance at end of period  2,883,652  2,991,630 

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at start of period  8,958,032  8,599,582 

 Land  (20,000)  40,000 

 Buildings  811,250  318,450 

Balance at end of period  9,749,282  8,958,032 
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 2015  2014

 $  $ 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 

Balance at start of period  4,408,478  4,692,550 

Result for the period  (666,828)  (284,072)

Balance at end of period  3,741,650  4,408,478 

total equity at end of period  16,374,584  16,358,140 

(a) Transfer of net assets from other agencies

AASB 1004 ‘Contributions’, requires transfers of net assets as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements 
to be accounted for as contributions by owners and distributions to owners. Where activities are transferred from one 
agency to another agency as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, AASB 1004 (paragraph 57) requires 
the transferee agency to disclose the expenses and income attributable to the transferred activities for the reporting 
period, showing separately those expenses and income recognised by the transferor agency during the reporting period. 
Furthermore, AASB 1004 (paragraph 58) requires disclosures by class for each material transfer of assets and liabilities 
in relation to a restructure of administrative arrangements, together with the name of the counterparty transferor/
transferee agency.  In respect of transfers that are individually immaterial, the assets and liabilities are to be disclosed 
on an aggregate basis.

TI 955 designates non-discretionary and non-reciprocal transfers of net assets between state government agencies as 
contributions by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038. Where the transferee agency accounts for a non-
discretionary and non-reciprocal transfer of net assets as a contribution by owners and the transferor agency accounts 
for the transfer as a distribution to owners.

 2015  2014

29 notes to the Statement of Cash Flows  $  $ 

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

Cash on hand  4,400  4,400 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,430,812  2,702,665 

 2,435,212  2,707,065 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 18 ‘Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents’)  48,361  -   

 2,483,573  2,707,065 
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2015 2014

$ $
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) 
operating activities

Net cost of services  (14,525,073)  (14,622,435)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 ‘Depreciation expense)  532,586  561,693 

Doubtful debts expense (note 9 ‘Other expenses’)  3,499  (4,192)

Resources received free of charge (note 17 ‘Income from State Government’)  657,691  506,444 
Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (note 16 ‘Net gain/(loss)  
on sale of non-current assets’)  2,172  (2,509)
Losses and write-offs (excludes cash shortages/thefts of money) (note 9 ‘Other 
expenses’)  -    -   

Fringe Benefits Tax Offset against GST  58,894  59,029 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Current receivables (b)  16,754  (106,063)

Current inventories  (8,604)  9,407 

Other current assets (c)  47,078  (388,399)

 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities

Current payables (b)  (279,398)  (271,215)

Current provisions  436,826  40,916 

Other current liabilities  (560,203)  533,292 

Non-current provisions  (568,607)  (26,741)

Net GST receipts/(payments)  (63,941)  (39,505)

Change in GST in receivables/payables (d)  2,523  2 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (14,247,801)  (13,750,276)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and 
the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included 
in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items. 0 

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions

(c) Prepayments and Term deposit held with bank having a term of 12 months maturing on  
19 August 2016 

(d) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables 
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 2015  2014

30 Commitments  $  $ 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

Within 1 year  250,161  383,584 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  360,607  175,531 

 610,768  559,115 

The commitments listed are inclusive of GST.

31 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities

The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial statements:

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Institute is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to 
the Department of Environment Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, DER classifies these sites on the basis 
of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated - 
remediation required or possibly contaminated - investigation required, the Institute may have a liability in respect of 
investigation or remediation expenses.

During the period ended 31 December 2012 the Institute reported a suspected contaminated site (the Northam Campus) 
to DER.  This site was subsequently classified by DER as ‘possibly contaminated and required further investigation’.  
As at the date of this report, there has been no change in the status of the investigation or remediation of this possibly 
contaminated site.

The Institute has been advised by the Department Training and Workforce Development that they will pay all future costs 
that may be incurred in the remediation of this site.

32 events occurring after the reporting period

On 24 February 2016 the Minister for Training and Workforce Development announced a plan to consolidate the current 
11 WA State training providers (STPs) to five by April 2016. The C.Y. O’Connor Institute’s Merredin, Moora and Northam 
campuses will form part of the Central Regional TAFE and the Narrogin campus will form part of the South Regional 
TAFE. This disclosure is for information purposes only and does not impact the financial information detailed in the 
attached financial statements.

The Institute’s Council is not aware of any other matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year 
to the date of this report which has significantly affected or may significantly affect the activities of the Institute, the results 
of those activities or the state of affairs of the Institute in the ensuing or any subsequent years.
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33 explanatory statement

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2015 and between actual results for 2014 and 2015 are shown 
below. Significant variances are considered to be those greater than 5% and: 

(a) For the Statement of Comprehensive Income - 2% of the Total Cost of Services for the year ended 31 December 2014 for 
comparison with 2015 actuals results and 2015 Estimated Total Cost of Service for comparison of with the actual result for 
the year ended 31 December 2015.  This equates to approximately $350,000.

(b) For the Statement of Financial Position - 2% of Total Assets as at 31 December 2014 for comparison with the actual position 
as at 31 December 2015 and  the 2015 Estimated Total Assets for  comparison with the actual position as at 31 December 
2015.  This equates to approximately $380,000, and

(c) For the Statement of Cashflows, 2% of the Total Cost of Services for the year ended 31 December 2014, which equates to 
approximately $350,000, excepting those variances substantially explained elsewhere.
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Note 33: Explanatory statement 

C.Y. O’Connor Institute      
Variance  
between 
estimate and 
actual results 
for 2015

Variance  
between 
actual results 
for 2015 and 
2014

StAteMent oF CoMpReHenSIVe InCoMe 
FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 
Actual 2015

Variance  
notes

estimates  
2015

Actual  
2015

Actual  
2014

 

 

 $ $ $ $ $

CoSt oF SeRVICeS      

expenses
Employee benefits expense  A  12,932,279  11,775,418  11,805,554  (1,156,861)  (30,136)

Supplies and services  B  4,497,384  3,842,823  3,815,503  (654,561)  27,319 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  562,864  532,586  561,693  (30,278)  (29,107)

Cost of sales  168,609  139,420  139,048  (29,189)  372 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets  -    2,172  -    2,172  2,172 
Other expenses 1, C  830,185  1,204,952  797,254  374,767  407,697 

total Cost of Services  18,991,321  17,497,371  17,119,053  (1,493,950)  378,318 

Income
Revenue
Fee for service  D  1,405,725  289,775  319,853  (1,115,950)  (30,078)

Student fees and charges 2  2,038,487  1,884,865  1,475,035  (153,622)  409,830 

Ancillary trading  17,714  16,363  17,844  (1,351)  (1,481)

Sales  185,366  179,075  165,502  (6,291)  13,572 

Interest revenue  80,000  89,415  93,955  9,415  (4,540)

Other revenue  443,533  512,805  421,919  69,272  90,886 

Total Revenue  4,170,825  2,972,298  2,494,108  (1,198,527)  478,190 

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets  -    -    2,509  -    2,509 

Other gains  -    -    -    -    -   

Total Gains  -    -    2,509  -    (2,509)

total income other than income from State Government  4,170,825  2,972,298  2,496,617  (1,198,527)  475,681 

net CoSt oF SeRVICeS  14,820,496  14,525,073  14,622,435  (295,423)  97,363 
 -    0 

InCoMe FRoM StAte GoVeRnMent
Service appropriation 3  13,439,414  12,984,317  13,831,919  455,097  (847,602)

Liabilities assumed  -    -    -    -    -   

Assets transferred  -    -    -    -    -   

Services received free of charge  782,606  657,691  506,444  124,915  151,247 

Other income from State Government  -    216,237  -    216,237  216,237 

total income from State Government  14,222,020  13,858,245  14,338,363  (363,775)  (480,118)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  (598,476)  (666,828)  (284,073)  (68,352)  (382,755)

otHeR CoMpReHenSIVe InCoMe
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 4, E  -    791,250  358,450  791,250  432,800 

total other comprehensive income  -    791,250  358,450  791,250  432,800 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(DEFICIT) FOR THE 
peRIoD  (598,476)  124,422  74,378  722,898  50,044 
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Note 33: Explanatory statement 

C.Y. O’Connor Institute      
Variance  
between 
estimate and 
actual results 
for 2015

Variance  
between 
actual results 
for 2015 and 
2014

StAteMent oF CoMpReHenSIVe InCoMe 
FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 
Actual 2015

Variance  
notes

estimates  
2015

Actual  
2015

Actual  
2014

 

 

 $ $ $ $ $

ASSetS
Current Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents  2,486,101  2,435,212  2,707,065  (50,889)  (271,853)

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  50,000  -    -    (50,000)  -   

Inventories  75,000  81,709  73,105  6,709  8,604 

Receivables  128,999  205,350  214,104  76,351  (8,754)

Other current assets  265,000  212,893  259,971  (52,107)  (47,078)

Non-current assets classified as held for sale  -    -    -    -    -   

total Current Assets  3,005,100  2,935,164  3,254,245  (69,936)  (319,081)
 -    -   

non-Current Assets 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  -    48,361  -    48,361  48,361 

Receivables  -    -    -    -    -   

Property, plant and equipment E  15,957,070  17,076,725  16,910,516  1,119,655  166,209 

Intangible assets  -    -    -    -    -   

Other non-current assets  -    -    -    -    -   

total non-Current Assets  15,957,070  17,125,086  16,910,516  1,168,016  214,570 
 -    -   

totAl ASSetS  18,962,170  20,060,251  20,164,761  1,098,081  (104,510)

lIABIlItIeS
Current liabilities
Payables  389,020  155,211  425,633  233,809  (270,422)

Borrowings  -    -    -    -    -   

Provisions 5  1,644,941  1,866,082  1,429,256  221,141  436,826 

Other current liabilities F  75,000  855,241  573,993  780,241  281,247 

total Current liabilities  2,108,961  2,876,534  2,428,882  767,573  447,652 
 -    -   

non-Current liabilities
Provisions 5, G  1,724,366  809,132  1,377,739  915,234  568,607 

total non-Current liabilities  1,724,366  809,132  1,377,739  (915,234)  (568,607)
 -    -   

totAl lIABIlItIeS  3,833,327  3,685,666  3,806,621  (147,660)  (120,955)

net ASSetS  15,128,844  16,374,584  16,358,140  1,245,741  16,445 

eQuItY
Contributed equity  2,991,630  2,883,652  2,991,630  (107,978)  (107,978)

Reserves 4, H  8,599,582  9,749,282  8,958,032  1,149,700  791,250 

Accumulated surplus  3,537,632  3,741,650  4,408,478  204,018  (666,827)

totAl  eQuItY  15,128,844  16,374,584  16,358,140 
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Note 33: Explanatory statement 

C.Y. O’Connor Institute      
Variance  
between 
estimate and 
actual results 
for 2015

Variance  
between 
actual results 
for 2015 and 
2014

StAteMent oF CoMpReHenSIVe InCoMe 
FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 
Actual 2015

Variance  
notes

estimates  
2015

Actual  
2015

Actual  
2014

 

 

 $ $ $ $ $

CASH FloWS FRoM StAte GoVeRnMent
Service appropriation - Department of Training and 
Workforce Development  13,439,413  13,825,768  14,082,066  386,355  (256,299)
Capital appropriation - Department of Training and 
Workforce Development  -    -    -    -    -   
Other Income - Voluntary Severance - DTWD  -    216,237  -    216,237  216,237 
Royalties for Regions Fund  -    -    43,152  -    (43,152)
net cash provided by State Government  13,439,413  14,042,005  14,125,218  602,592  (83,213)

utilised as follows:
CASH FloWS FRoM opeRAtInG ACtIVItIeS
payments
Employee benefits I  (13,082,289)  (12,059,997)  (12,298,577)  1,022,292  238,579 
Supplies and services J  (3,714,778)  (3,335,653)  (3,469,275)  379,125  133,622 
Finance costs  -    -    -    -    -   
Grants and subsidies  -    -    -    -    -   
Commonwealth grants and contributions  (532,032)  (530,619)  -    1,413  (530,619)
GST payments on purchases  (160,000)  (346,396)  (354,955)  (186,396)  8,559 
GST payments to taxation authority  (30,000)  (72,675)  (29,410)  (42,675)  (43,265)
Other payments 6  (997,402)  (1,219,582)  (862,682)  (222,180)  (356,900)

Receipts
Fee for service K  1,402,641  363,892  222,611  (1,038,749)  141,281 
Student fees and charges   2,037,248  1,796,448  1,468,678  (240,800)  327,770 
Ancillary trading  17,714  16,363  17,844  (1,351)  (1,481)
Commonwealth grants and contributions 7, L  -    -    530,619  532,032  (530,619)
Interest received  80,432  90,885  92,590  10,453  (1,705)
GST receipts on sales  60,000  169,028  150,458  109,028  18,570 
GST receipts from taxation authority  129,658  188,626  194,402  58,968  (5,776)
Other receipts  622,836  691,880  587,421  69,044  104,459 
net cash used in operating activities  (14,165,972)  (14,247,801)  (13,750,276)  (81,829)  (497,526)

CASH FloWS FRoM InVeStInG ACtIVItIeS
payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets  -    (20,413)  (86,426)  (20,413)  66,013 
Purchase of Investment in Term Deposit  -    -    (40,000)  -    40,000 
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  -    2,717  3,528  2,717  (811)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  -    (17,696)  (122,898)  (17,696)  105,202 

CASH FloWS FRoM FInAnCInG ACtIVItIeS
payments
Finance lease repayment of principal  -    -    -    -    -   
Repayment of borrowings  -    -    -    -    -   
Other repayments  -    -    -    -    -   
Receipts
Proceeds from borrowings  -    -    -    -    -   
Other proceeds  -    -    -    -    -   
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8, M  (726,559)  (223,492)  252,044  503,067  (475,536)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  3,262,660  2,707,065  2,455,021  (555,595)  252,044 

CASH AnD CASH eQuIVAlentS At tHe enD oF peRIoD  2,536,101  2,483,573  2,707,065  (52,528)  (223,492)
 (0)  -   

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015



C.Y. O’Connor Institute Financial Statements year ended 31 December 2015 | 120

33 explanatory statement

Significant variances between actual results for 2015 and 2014

1 Increase in workers compensation contribution for 2014-15 plus a backdated performance adjustment ($210K) levied by 
RiskCover. 

2 Increased VET fees resulting from the introduction of the Future Skills WA initiative and additional Higher Education fees 
due to second year intake of students undertaking the Bachelor of Agriculture and Business Management degree.

3 The Institute did not achieve the 2015 contracted SCH and has provided for a refund to the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development.

4 Revaluation increments on buildings greater than in the previous year as determined by Western Australian Land 
Information Authority. 

5 Movement of long service liabilities from non current to current as staff entitlements matured during 2015. 

6 Other payments have increased due to an increase in other expenses arising from the RiskCover backdated performance 
adjustment. 

7 VET FEE-HELP received in advance in 2014 but in arrears in 2015.

8 The decline in the "Net increase in cash" from 2014 was due to cash received in advance from Commonwealth for VET 
FEE-HELP funding.  This funding was repaid in 2015. 

Significant variances between estimate and actual results for 2015

A Continued implementation of Institute financial management plan initiative to reduce salary expenditure across all areas.

B Continued implementation of Institute financial management plan initiative to reduce consumable expenditure across all 
areas.

C Increase in workers compensation contribution for 2014-2015 plus performance adjustment ($210K) resulted in the 
overall increase.

D The Institute overestimated the capacity to acquire fee for service revenue - reduced training demand in areas associated 
with Local Government, Health, corporate clients and single subscriber courses significantly impacted on acquiring 
revenue.

E Estimates did not include a value for revaluation increments or decrements due to the difficulty with reliably estimating 
the amount.

F The Institute overestimated the achievement of SCH for 2015 resulting an a refund liability payable to the Department of 
Training and Workforce Development. 

G The Institute underestimated the impact of the reduction in long service leave during the year.

H Estimates did not include a value for revaluation increments or decrements due to the difficulty with reliably estimating 
the amount.  Reliance is placed upon professional valuation at the end of the year as determined by Western Australian 
Land Information Authority. 

I Continued implementation of Institute initiative to reduce salary expenditure by not filling non-essential positions and 
reducing casual salary payments.

J Continued implementation of Institute initiative to reduce consumable expenditure across all areas.

K The Institute overestimated its capacity to acquire fee for service revenue in a competitive training market.

L VET FEE-HELP received in advance in 2014 however received in arrears in 2015. 

M Lower than estimated decline in cash arose due to the overestimation of expenditure payments and service appropriation 
receipts (2015 DPA) exceeding original estimation.  The refund of 2015 DPA receipts prepaid to the Institute by DTWD 
(as per note F above) will not be repaid until 2016, thereby improving the year end cash balance and reducing the net 
cash used in 2015 .  
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34 Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the Institute are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, loans and 
receivables, and payables. The Institute has limited exposure to financial risks.  The Institute's overall risk management 
program focuses on managing the risks identified below:

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Institute’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Institute. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at 
note 34(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Institute’s financial assets is minimal because the Institute trades only with recognised, 
creditworthy third parties. The Institute has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with 
the result that the Institute's exposure to bad debt is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there are no significant 
concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Institute is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Institute is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Institute has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as interest rates will affect the Institute’s income or the value 
of its holdings of financial instruments. The Institute does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to 
other price risks (for example, equity securities or commodity prices changes).  The Institute’s exposure to market risk for 
changes in interest rates relates primarily to short-term cash rates at bank as it has no borrowings.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are:

 2015  2014 

 $  $ 

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  2,435,212  2,707,065 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - Non Current  48,361  -   

Receivables (a)  168,816  189,070 

Other Current Assets  40,000  40,000 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  155,211  425,633 

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO 
(statutory receivable).
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(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk
The following table discloses the Institute’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The 
Institute’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as 
shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial 
assets. The table is based on information provided by senior management of the Institute.

The Institute does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 

Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount

 Not past 
due and not 

impaired 

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

 3 months 
to 1 year  1-5 Years   Impaired 

Financial 
Assets 

$  $ $ $ $  $  $ 

Financial Assets

 2015 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,435,212  2,435,212  -    -    -    -    -   
Restricted cash  and cash 
equivalents  48,361  48,361  -    -    -    -    -   

Receivables (a)  168,816  138,661  16,691  10,818  4,427  6,136  (7,917)

Other Assets  40,000  40,000  -    -    -    -    -   

 2,692,389  2,662,234  16,691  10,818  4,427  6,136  (7,917)

 2014 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,707,065  2,707,065  -    -    -    -    -   

Receivables  (a)  189,070  167,329  12,537  801  12,481  2,916  (6,994)

Other Assets  40,000  40,000  -    -    -    -    -   

 2,936,135  2,914,394  12,537  801  12,481  2,916  (6,994)

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015

Interest rate sensitivity analysis       
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Institute’s financial assets and liabilities at the 
end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the 
change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

       

  - 100 Basis Points  + 100 Basis Points
 Carrying 

amount Surplus Equity
 

Surplus  Equity 

 2015 $ $ $  $  $ 

       

Financial Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  2,430,812  (24,308)  (24,308)  24,308  24,308 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  48,361  (484)  (484)  484  484 

Other Current Assets  40,000  (400)  (400)  400  400 

Total Increase/(Decrease)  (25,192)  (25,192)  25,192  25,192 

       

  - 100 Basis Points  + 100 Basis Points
 Carrying 

amount Surplus Equity
 

Surplus  Equity 

 2014 $ $ $  $  $ 

       

Financial Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  2,702,665  (27,027)  (27,027)  27,027  27,027 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  40,000  (400)  (400)  400  400 

Total Increase/(Decrease)  (27,427)  (27,427)  27,427  27,427 

       

Fair values       
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair 
value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable notes.
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35 Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers   

Remuneration of members of the Institute   
The number of members of the Institute whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other 
benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

    2015  2014 

                  $   

 $0 -  $10,000  9  7 

 $10,001 - $20,000  1  1 

 $40,001 - $50,000  1  -   

 $130,001 - $140,000  -    1 

 $200,001 - $210,000  1  -   

 $240,001 - $250,000  -    1 

    2015  2014 

    $  $ 

Base remuneration and superannuation    304,200  386,523 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals    (39,652)  7,112 

Other  benefits    30,389  30,175 

total remuneration of the members of the Institute   294,937  423,810 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in respect of members of the Institute. 

Remuneration of senior officers     
The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Institute, whose total of fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

    2015  2014 

 $    

 $130,001 - $140,000   -    -   

 $140,001 - $150,000   -    1 

 $150,001 - $160,000   1  1 

 $170,001 - $180,000   1  1 

$180,001 - $190,000  1  -   

    2015  2014 

    $  $ 

Base remuneration and superannuation    458,934  430,349 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals    34,066  22,430 

Other benefits    10,480  12,697 

Total remuneration of senior officers    503,480  465,476 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in respect of senior officers other than 
senior officers reported as members of the Institute.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.    

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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36 Remuneration of auditor   

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the 
current financial year is as follows:  2015  2014 

  $  $ 

   

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 71000 78,000 

   

37 Related bodies   

The Institute has no related bodies.   

   

38 Affiliated bodies   

The Institute has no affiliated bodies.   

   

39 Supplementary financial information  2015  2014 

 $  $ 

(a) Write-Offs   

      Public property written-off by the Executive Council during the financial year  519 9,180 

      Bad debts  2,577 4,631 

  3,096 13,811 

(b) Gifts of Public Property  

     Gifts of public property provided by the Institute 18,386 15,523 

 18,386 15,523 

   

40 Schedule of income and expenditure by service   

The Institute provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer’s Instruction  
1101(9) and that is Vocational Education and Training Delivery.  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for Year Ended 31 December 2015
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   northam Campus
Lot 1 Hutt Street 
PO Box 498 
Northam WA 6401
Ph: 1800 627 256
Library: 9622 6740
Bookshop: 9622 6744
email: northam@cyoc.wa.edu.au

   School of Agribusiness 
Muresk Institute 
PO Box 498 
Northam WA 6401 
Ph: 9622 6723 
email: agribusiness@cyoc.wa.edu.au

   narrogin Campus
59 Fortune Street
PO Box 457
Narrogin WA 6312
Ph: 9881 9000
email: narrogin@cyoc.wa.edu.au

   Merredin Campus
42 Throssell Road 
PO Box 542 
Merredin WA 6415
Ph: 9081 3555
email: merredin@cyoc.wa.edu.au

   Moora Campus
242 Berkshire Valley Road 
PO Box 329 
Moora WA 6510
Ph: 9651 0111
email: moora@cyoc.wa.edu.au
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